

Cicely Saunders International



Current and future needs for hospice care: an evidence-based report

Natalia Calanzani, Irene J Higginson, Barbara Gomes

January 2013

The Commission into the Future of Hospice Care has been established by Help the Hospices to help providers of hospice care prepare to meet the needs, challenges and opportunities that will present themselves in 10-15 years' time. It will offer practical help and advice to hospices to guide their work in the next three years as they prepare to respond to the changing context they face in the future. Its conception follows the publication of the report 'Dying for Change' by Demos in 2010 which proposed radical change to care available to people who face the end of life, their families and carers. The Commission will consider what role hospices could play in such transformation of services in the future, in order that providers of hospice care retain a significant role in shaping and delivering care for the dying and the bereaved. To find out more about the Commission, please visit: www.helpthehospices.org.uk/our-services/ commission

Share your thoughts and get involved www.helpthehospices.org.uk/commission commission@helpthehospices.org.uk 0208 520 8209 Commission into the Future of Hospice Care, Hospice House, 34-44 Britannia St, London WC1X 9JG Cicely Saunders International was established in 2002 in the name of Dame Cicely Saunders, a founder trustee and its President. Dame Cicely is widely acknowledged as the founder of the modern hospice movement and is credited with "mentoring some of the great world leaders in this field" (Professor Eduardo Bruera).The mission of Cicely Saunders International is to promote research to improve the care and treatment of all patients with progressive illness and to make high-quality palliative care available to everyone who needs it. There is no other charity specifically concerned with carrying out work to identify and promote best practice in palliative care. To find out more about Cicely Saunders International please visit: www.cicelysaundersinternational.org

Contents

	Foreword	2
	Executive summary	5
1	Introduction	7
2	Methodological notes	8
3	Likely changes in the size and shape of the	
	UK population	11
3.1	What do we know about mortality trends	
	until now?	11
3.2	What are people dying from?	13
3.3	Where are people dying?	14
3.4	What do we know about trends in hospice	
	care services?	18
3.5	Is the UK population expected to increase	
	in the future?	18
3.6	What about the projected number of deaths?	19
4	Where people wish to be cared for and die:	
	meeting preferences	22
4.1	Where would people prefer to be cared for	
	and die?	22
4.2	Who prefers to die at home or in inpatient	
	hospices/palliative care units, and why?	22
4.3	Factors associated with choosing hospices	
	or palliative care units as the place to die:	
	results from the PRISMA survey	23
4.4	Are people's preferences being met?	25
5	Evidence that hospice care makes a	
	difference to patients and caregivers	28
5.1	What do we know about people's	
	experiences of hospice care?	28
5.2	Do outcomes for patients and families	
	differ according to place of death?	30
6	Take home messages	33
6.1	Limitations and need for more evidence	33
6.2	What are the next steps?	35
7	Where can I find local population data?	36
	Appendices	38
	References	44
	Acknowledgements	49

Foreword

Six months ago, The Commission into the Future of Hospice Care commissioned Cicely Saunders International to produce an evidence-based report on the future level of need for hospice care towards the end of life. Our question: what are the demographics that will drive future demand for hospice care? Our intention: to bring together what is known and identify what still needs to be known, so that we can help hospices plan for the future.

I am delighted to welcome this working paper; it provides a comprehensive and thought provoking review of the evidence. It also delivers some stark messages and we hope that you will share your reaction to the work with us, so that we might refine our thinking about how hospices can adapt and change. The Commission aims to seek ways to help hospices understand future challenges and plan to meet future needs.

That hospices will need to change is beyond doubt. The scale of the challenge ahead is dramatic and will require hospices to significantly increase the extent and scope of end of life services. The opportunity and the test for hospices will be whether they can develop the greater reach, accessibility and complexity of service required to meet these needs. The report makes clear that the number of people dying each year is set to rise from 2016 and that this rise is a steep curve. In England alone, the number will increase by over 4,000 a year between 2021 and 2025 and by over 8,000 a year between 2031 and 2035.

Our society is also aging and the consequences are hugely significant. In 2010, 1.4 million people were aged 85 or older and deaths in this group represented 36% of all deaths. By 2035, this figure will be 3.5 million and deaths in the over 85s will represent half of all deaths in the UK. As we live longer we are more likely to die as a consequence of chronic disease with a greater number of us living with cancer and dementia. Indeed, in ten years time the number of deaths caused by cancer is expected to increase by 30% for men and 12% for women and in just eight years the number of people living with dementia will rise to over a million.

In short, the demand for care at the end of life will rise and the nature of that care will become more complex. Hospices will need to take inevitable changes in the future shape of our population into account as they plan future service development. However, these are not the only challenging messages in this report. The authors take us under the demographic headlines in order to identify the future users of hospice care and rightly urge hospices to better understand their needs, preferences and wishes both now and in the future.

First amongst those whose future needs and preferences hospices need to understand are the oldest old. Currently, older members of our society express a preference to die in a hospice but are more likely than other groups to die in a hospital or a care home. This data does not allow for a more subtle interpretation of this preference or the actuality of who may have been involved in end of life care whatever the physical setting. However, it will be important for hospices to consider alternative and innovative ways in which their care might be brought to the individual and consider if a 'hospiceenabled' death achieved in a range of settings from home, care home or hospital could meet their needs and preferences.

The report also highlights the evidence that tells us that older people and people with non-malignant conditions are less likely to receive timely referrals to palliative care. It suggests that hospices need to continue work to establish the partnerships necessary to support new models of care that reach out to people in their communities, earlier in their illness, and connect with their existing specialist care. Crucially, the report emphasises the need for such innovation to be rigorously evaluated for effectiveness and cost-effectiveness as well as being speedily spread and adopted. Hospices have much to do to meet this challenge. "The scale of the challenge ahead is dramatic and will require hospices to significantly increase the extent and scope of end of life services."

The evidence suggests that hospices have developed as the gold standard providers of high quality care to people with complex medical and psychosocial needs, both patients and their families. In expanding the range of services offered to meet the widespread and substantial needs of those who will need care in the future they must ensure that the skills needed to provide such care are preserved, enhanced and made available to all who may need them.

As well as bringing existing evidence into focus the report also demonstrates where there are clear gaps in our understanding. These gaps hinder the ability of hospices and all palliative care services to rationally develop the right range of effective services to match future need. The requirement for hospices to do better at collecting and critically examining the data is urgent and imperative. Given our commitment to the development of hospice services that reach out across all those settings where people may need care, it is telling that the hospice sector as a whole has no agreed process for collecting data that would accurately record the number of people in receipt of hospice care in any one year, particularly beyond the inpatient hospice setting.

Hospices must meet a range of challenges: collecting better data, developing a better understanding of those who needs will dominate future decades, and establishing a robust evidence base for new services. They must also collaborate even more closely with all other providers of support and care to people at the end of their lives. Progress will require commitment and leadership as well as the astute use of resources not only by individual hospices but also those organisations that represent hospices face the future, they will need to address difficult questions about how to demonstrate the best use of their expertise, experience and public support to meet increasing and wider ranging needs.

Dr Teresa Tate

Medical Adviser to Marie Curie Cancer Care, Consultant in Palliative Medicine, Barts Health NHS Trust and member of the Commission into the Future of Hospice Care.

"The authors take us under the demographic headlines in order to identify the future users of hospice care and rightly urge hospices to better understand their needs, preferences and wishes both now and in the future."

"The increasing number of older people will not be the only driver of future hospice care. People are also more often living alone, often with limited support from friends and relatives. An increasing number of people are employed outside the home, making them unable to provide full time care."

Executive summary

This report provides evidence on what is known and still needs to be known about patients' and families' needs for hospice care towards the end of life. We focus on crucial factors for hospice care planning for the future in the UK, including the most recent data on actual and projected number of deaths in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland. This is followed by evidence on people's preferences for place of care and place of death. Finally, we present available evidence on the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of hospice care and discuss the need for further research. Evidence-based recommendations are provided throughout the report.

How is the size and shape of the UK population likely to change in the future?

UK mortality trends have changed towards people living longer and dying from chronic diseases at an older age. This translates into a different profile of death and dying from when the modern hospice movement started, over 40 years ago. Older people are more likely to suffer from cancer and chronic non-malignant conditions. They are also more likely to have comorbidities and be fragile. Older people can benefit from specialist and generalist hospice care provided in different settings. Some might be able to stay at home with home support; others will need to or prefer to be cared for in an inpatient hospice bed at some point in their illness trajectory, whilst others will need long-term care in institutions such as care homes. Despite differences in diagnosis, controlling symptoms such as pain, breathlessness and depression is a common requirement across different advanced conditions, ages and settings.

In the past five years (2007-2011) the annual number of deaths has decreased in all the UK countries (from 0.7% average annual decrease in Ireland to 1.4% in Wales). In 2011, at least half of the population in England and Wales died in hospitals, 21.8% died at home and less than 6.0% died in an inpatient hospice bed. In these countries, people with non-malignant conditions and those aged 85+ are less likely to die at home and in an inpatient hospice bed (compared to those with cancer and younger people). Women and those aged 85+ are more likely to die in care homes.

Although the number of deaths has been reducing, current projections by the Office for National Statistics predict a dramatic increase in the number of older people in the UK, with the number of deaths also increasing from around 2015. This is slightly later than what previous projections showed (3 years later) because earlier projections were based on more pessimistic assumptions regarding life expectancy. Nevertheless, it is a rise which will inevitably happen as a result of fertility trends and baby-booms right after the Second World War and in the 1960s.

By 2035, people aged 85 years or older are projected to account for almost half (49.5%) of all deaths in the UK (328,469 deaths in this year). The number of deaths caused by cancer is expected to increase (30% for men and 12% for women by 2023); it is also predicted that over a million people will have dementia in the UK in 2021. This will inevitably translate into an escalating demand for hospice care. Planning requires robust evidence on current hospice care capacity (inpatient, community and outpatient), but this information is not readily available.

Main recommendations: Due to an increasing and diverse population demand for hospice care, it is essential to increase the availability of hospice beds and/ or investigate optimal ways to use the number of existing inpatient hospice beds. However, it is also paramount to diversify hospice care provision into other models of care and care settings, collaborating with different service providers and care specialties such as geriatrics and disease specific specialties. There are encouraging local practices suggesting that this can be done well. More robust information about hospice care usage and provision is needed.

Where do people wish to be cared for and die? Are their preferences being met?

Evidence from the UK shows that home is the most frequently chosen place to die, despite variations across conditions and age groups. Cancer patients are more likely to choose home than patients with non-malignant conditions, for example. Inpatient hospice is usually the second most frequently chosen place to die. Older people are more likely to choose inpatient hospice than their younger counterparts (although currently they are the group least likely to die there). With an ageing population, it is therefore likely that the number of people choosing to die in an inpatient hospice bed will increase. It will be challenging to expand inpatient hospice bed capacity to the extent of meeting everybody's preferences. Nevertheless, ensuring such additional capacity, while understanding peoples preferences and priorities for care, will be crucial to providing adequate levels of hospice care in the future.

Main recommendations: We need to better understand why those aged 85+ and non-cancer patients die less often at home and in hospices. In order to reach them better and verify which hospice care plans meet their needs is it necessary to listen to their preferences and priorities for care. The use of standardised tools to assess these is recommended for all patient groups; these tools are also paramount for documenting advance care plans. Reasons underlying preferences and changes also need to be further investigated.

Is there evidence that hospice care makes a difference to patients and family caregivers?

Hospice care is beneficial to patients regardless of the care setting, particularly in terms of symptom control (especially pain) and patient satisfaction with care. Unfortunately, it is still not known which models of hospice care work better and are more cost-effective. There is also lack of evidence on the effectiveness of hospice care for family caregivers, especially regarding bereavement care. And while home is the preferred place of care/death for the majority of the population, we still do not know if those who die at home experience better outcomes than those who die elsewhere. Finally, although inpatient hospice care seems to be the "gold standard" in terms of perceived quality of care, more evidence is needed to confirm this.

Main recommendations: Hospice care providers need to assess which aspects of their care are more effective/cost-effective in order to optimise the care they provide and to allow the transfer of best practices across settings. Partnerships with research groups may be helpful to design robust evaluations. Future research into hospice care should identify aspects of care in need of improvement and generate evidence on the effectiveness of hospice care on bereavement outcomes for family caregivers.

1. Introduction

Hospice care has developed remarkably in the past four decades. Having begun in the voluntary sector, it has received increased attention from the UK National Health Service (NHS). Over the last five years, with the implementation of the National End of Life Care Strategy¹, focus on providing better care at the end of life has intensified – it has become a health priority across sectors.

Independent hospices are major players in the provision of hospice care. In the UK, they provide about 80% of all adult inpatient care beds, in addition to day care services and home care². Less than a third of adult hospice funding is covered by the Government and the remaining is derived from donations, legacies and trading². There have been calls for greater governmental funding, but at the moment there is still no concrete answer to how this will be done.

Current challenges for hospice care involve funding, new government bodies and regulations at times of major restructuring of the NHS. Contents of the Health and Social Care Act 2012³ such as the creation of another regulatory body (Monitor) have raised concerns about an increased burden of regulatory systems for inpatient hospices⁴. The new Act also does not give a clear description of how hospice care will be funded in the future. The Draft Care and Support Bill (published in July 2012) refers to the creation of a funding system for palliative care in the future (2015). The feasibility of providing health and social care at the end of life for free at the point of delivery will be assessed in the near future³. The next few years will, therefore, be a period of uncertainty and adaptation for independent hospice providers and, consequently, for those in need of hospice care. The impact current reforms will have on funding, planning, provision and receipt of hospice care is still unknown.

Funding and policy issues are not the only challenges in hospice care provision. Access to hospice care is still neither sufficient nor equal for people with different illnesses, ages or ethnicity, even though improvements have happened. Current estimates published in the Palliative Care Funding Review suggest that hospice care needs are being unmet for 92,000 people each year⁵. Age UK estimates that around 800,000 older people per year would benefit from some type of elderly care but do not receive it from the government or from the voluntary sector⁶. These figures are concerning, especially because UK demographics have been changing towards a greater proportion of older people and this is predicted to continue in the future. People's expectations of care are also greater than before⁷.

In light of these challenges, Help the Hospices believes that hospices should be equipped with knowledge to help them provide appropriate and timely care in the future. In 2011, a Commission was created to bring together this knowledge. This evidence-based report is one of a series of publications currently being commissioned. We report data on UK mortality, one of the core indicators of the need for hospice care at a population level⁸. We also report other UK demographic and epidemiological data showing past trends, present statistics and the most upto-date projections. The report also provides evidence on people's expectations, preferences and realities in hospice care provision. We show that these factors have important implications for future care planning and need to be well understood and considered in order to plan adequate hospice care. We hope that this publication, along with the other reports in this series help the Commission to meet its aim of providing strategic direction for hospices for the next 10 to 15 years.

2. Methodological notes

Definition of hospice care

The definition of hospice care can vary across countries. For the purposes of this report, the following definition is used: "Hospice care seeks to improve the lives of people living with a progressive and life-threatening condition. By offering high-quality, specialist palliative care it helps them to live as actively as they can to the end of their lives, however long that may be. It not only takes care of people's physical needs, but looks after their emotional, spiritual and social needs as well. Hospice care also supports carers, family members and close friends, both during a person's illness and during bereavement"⁹.

When reporting individual studies, all effort was made to focus on studies within the UK population, except when the evidence was too scarce. Literature and systematic reviews have a wider scope and in general include studies from different countries. When reporting data from reviews it was not possible to verify which definition was adopted by each individual study.

Definition of the population

We focus on the adult population due to their importance in terms of future demand for hospice care. Most of the available evidence on preferences and outcomes also refers to this group. Furthermore, mortality trends and projections are different for children (as we will see in section 3 of this report). Paediatric hospice care also has different profiles in many ways (e.g. inclusion of non-malignant conditions from the outset and greater collaboration with the health care teams already caring for the patient)¹⁰. We acknowledge that there are at least 43 UK inpatient hospices dedicated to children⁹, but we feel that due to the scope of the report paediatric hospice care should be analysed separately.

Actual and projected number of deaths

We carried out an analysis of 5-year mortality trends (2007-2011) to understand changes in the numbers

and profile of death in the UK. We show data for all ages, but focused the analysis on the adult population since this group is the most relevant for future hospice care planning. Because of the way age categories are reported by the ONS (0-4, 5-14, 15-44, 45-64, 65-74, 75-84 and 85+ years) we considered those over 15 years as adults.

Mortality statistics are published every year by the ONS (England and Wales), the Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency Data (NISRA) (Northern Ireland), the General Register Office for Scotland (GRO), and the Scottish Neighbourhood Statistics (SNS) (Scotland). Deaths are shown by age, gender and underlying cause of death (according to ICD-10 codes) for all the UK countries. The ONS shows cause of death for England and Wales together; hence it was not possible to check for differences between the two countries. Mortality by underlying cause of death does not cover contributory causes of death (i.e. someone who died due to cancer might have also had advanced dementia). We report numbers and proportions of deaths for eight illnesses relevant to hospice care which were available for all countries: cancer (C00-D48), dementia (F00-F03), ischaemic heart disease (I20-I25), cerebrovascular diseases (I60-I69), chronic lower respiratory diseases (J40-J47), Parkinson's disease (G20) and Alzheimer's disease (G30).

Place of death categories are the same in England and Wales, but different in Scotland and Northern Ireland (Table 1). Since place of death categories changed for England and Wales in 2010, we report only 3-year trends in place of death (2007-2009) and a snapshot of 2010/2011 deaths. Although we do not report the numbers and percentages of deaths taking place in "other communal establishments" and "elsewhere", we took all into account when calculating the proportions of deaths in the examined settings. We also report place of death by geographical regions within England: North (comprising the North East, the North West and Yorkshire and the Humber), Midlands and East of England (East Midlands, West Midlands and East of England), London and South of England (South East and South West). In Scotland place of death information is only available for cancer deaths.

The population projections for England, Wales, Scotland, Northern Ireland and the whole of the UK are from the National Population Projections 2010-based Statistical Bulletin, published by the ONS¹¹. These projections are based on the latest available midyear population estimates and several demographic estimates on future fertility, mortality and immigration. They refer to the usually resident population in the UK (including long-term international migrants). In Appendix A (reporting projected number of deaths by age and gender), the number of deaths for those aged 0-4 include stillbirths. Due to space limitations we only report the ONS principal projection (nine alternative projections are

Table 1 – Place of death categories across the UK countries (2007-2011)

freely available from their website: www.ons.gov.uk).

Fertility assumptions are shown in terms of completed family size (the average number of children that women born in particular years will have)¹². Because of the way data are reported, the population is sometimes shown in millions and other times in thousands of people. Due to the natural degree of uncertainty from projections, we only report those up to year 2035, except in Figure 3. In this case, we show further projected years to illustrate when the number of deaths is expected to reach the number of births in the UK countries.

Preferences for place of care and place of death

We used an improved search strategy adapted from Higginson and Sen-Gupta's review¹³ to identify studies assessing preferences for place of care or place of death. Keywords included palliative, hospice, terminal, end of life, death, dying, location, place, setting, home, care,

	England and Wales	Scotland	Northern Ireland
2007- 2009	 Home (usual residence of the deceased according to the informant, where this is not a communal establishment) Hospitals and communal establishments for the care of the sick (NHS and non-NHS - excludes psychiatric hospitals and hospices) Hospices (include Sue Ryder Homes, Marie Curie Centres, oncology centres, voluntary hospice units, and palliative care centres) Psychiatric hospitals (NHS and non-NHS) Other communal establishments 	Cancer deaths only NHS acute hospital Home Hospice Other institution Data not yet available for 2009, 2010 and 2011	 36 individual hospitals (identifiable) Other hospitals (hospitals with a "very small" number of deaths merged into this group) Nursing homes All other places
2010- 2011	 Other private houses and other places Home (usual residence of the deceased according to the informant, where this is not a communal establishment) Hospitals (NHS and non-NHS - acute or community, not psychiatric) Hospices (NHS and non-NHS - include Sue Ryder Homes, Marie Curie Centres, oncology centres, voluntary hospice units, and palliative care centres) Care Homes (Local Authority and non-Local Authority) Other communal establishments Elsewhere 		

Sources: Place of death in England and Wales reported by the ONS (www.ons.gov.uk), in Scotland by the Scottish Cancer Registry (SCR) (www.isdscotland.org/index.asp), and in Northern Ireland by the NISRA (www.nisra.gov.uk/).

"People are living longer and dying from chronic diseases at an older age"

die, prefer, wish, decision, choice. We searched four databases (MEDLINE, EMBASE, psycINFO and CINAHL), our personal databases and reference lists from published papers. We only included studies that 1) were carried out in the UK; 2) reported overall number of participants who expressed a preference; 3) reported numbers/proportions of study participants who preferred to die/be cared for in a hospice. Valid cases shown in Appendix B refer to study participants who expressed preferences. We considered preferences for place of care and place of death to be equivalent. Although a few studies have found that these can differ^{14, 15}, the evidence is not yet conclusive. Many UK studies also consider these to be equivalent¹⁶⁻¹⁸. This influenced our decision to include preferences in both scenarios. When calculating preferences we excluded from the denominator those who did not have any preference or did not know where they would prefer to die.

We used data from the PRISMA survey to investigate factors associated with choosing hospice/palliative care unit as the preferred place to die. This was a population-based telephone survey investigating public preferences and priorities for end of life care in seven European countries (including England)¹⁹. The PRISMA questionnaire had 28 questions on preferences, personal values related to end of life care, experience with illness, death and dying and general health and sociodemographic questions. We asked participants: "In a situation of serious illness like cancer with less than one year to live Where do you think you would prefer to die if circumstances allowed you to choose?" Participants could choose "own home", "home of a relative or friend", "hospice or palliative care unit", "hospital (but not in a palliative care unit)", "nursing home", "residential home" or specify somewhere else. Further information on the survey can be found elsewhere¹⁹.

Participants in the PRISMA survey were randomly selected individuals aged ≥16 residing in a private household. For this report we used English data only (1,351 participants) to investigate factors associated with choosing hospice as the preferred place of death. We recoded all possible answers on preferences as two answers: hospice versus non-hospice (merging all other possible answer options). We did bivariate statistical tests to identify which factors (socio-demographic, experiences of serious illness, death and dying and preferences and priorities for end of life care – all assessed in the questionnaire) were significantly associated with choosing hospices (p<0.05). All significant factors were included in a logistic regression model to identify those independently associated with choosing hospices (versus elsewhere) as the preferred place of death (p<0.05). As a note of caution, results from regression do not imply causality, only associations between factors. All cases with missing data were excluded.

Experiences and outcomes for patients and families

We identified crucial evidence on patient's preferences and experiences of hospice care; we prioritised findings from literature reviews (systematic and not systematic) and randomised controlled trials (RCTs) to provide more robust data. In RCTs, patients are randomly assigned either to a group receiving the intervention or to a group that does not receive it (known as the control group). By randomly assigning participants, it is much more likely that the results from the intervention are due to the intervention itself instead of uncontrolled factors. However, since RCTs in hospice care are scarce we also report some results from individual studies using different methodologies.

3. Likely changes in the size and shape of the UK population

3.1 What do we know about mortality trends until now?

Historical mortality trends

The latest mortality trends in the UK and many other developed countries show that people are living longer, but often with a life-limiting condition that would benefit, at some point, from hospice care.

During the 20th century, especially after 1945, medical developments, improvements in nutrition and sanitation and governmental policies reduced mortality due to infectious diseases. As a consequence, more children survived into adulthood²⁰. This was accompanied by an increasing number of births after the Second World War (this population group is one of the most well discussed baby-boom generations).

Throughout the years people were living longer; life expectancy at birth increased from 67.95 years in 1945 to 82.41 years in 2010²¹. The pattern of mortality, therefore, changed from high childhood mortality to high older adult mortality. Instead of a high incidence of infectious diseases, the new generations have chronic and degenerative diseases as the most common causes of death²¹. Due to advances in medicine, mortality from ischaemic heart disease and stroke has more recently declined in the UK and other developed countries^{22, 23}. This is partly due to new available medication to control blood pressure; raised blood pressure is estimated to cause 51% of stroke deaths and 45% of coronary heart disease deaths²⁴.

While the proportion of deaths from ischaemic heart disease and stroke decreased, the proportion of deaths due to cancer and other non-malignant chronic conditions increased. Older age is closely linked with the development of cancer, dementia and cognitive impairment. The longer people live, the more likely they are to suffer from these conditions²⁵⁻²⁸. Cancer Research UK reports that 320,500 people were diagnosed with cancer in the UK in 2009²⁵. Although cancer can develop at any age, it is most common in older people. Latest cancer incidence figures for 2008 (published in 2010) report that three quarters of cancer cases were diagnosed in people aged 60 and over²⁵.

Age is the strongest risk factor for dementia²⁷; it is estimated that two thirds (68%) of all people with dementia are over 80 years old, 17% are over 90²⁹. Furthermore, one in five people over 80 and one in 20 people over 65 has a form of dementia²⁸. The Alzheimer's Research Trust estimates that 821,884 people lived with dementia in the UK in 2010³⁰. A report from the National End of Life Care Intelligence Network shows that between 2001 and 2009, there were 631,078 deaths for which one or more of the conditions Alzheimer's disease, dementia or senility were mentioned on death certificates (either as the main cause or contributory cause of death)²⁶.

Treatment and care in older age need to be planned taking into account pre-existing health problems and illnesses (referred to as comorbidities); older patients are also usually frail³¹ and many have painful conditions such as arthritis and osteoporosis³². Furthermore, different illnesses present different trajectories. While people with cancer generally present a classic terminal phase with an abrupt onset of disability in the last few months of life³³, patients with dementia have a less defined trajectory, with a longer period of progressive disability³⁴. In the case of dementia and other chronic conditions, it is difficult to define when "really sick becomes dying"³², and this has strong implications for treatment. As a consequence, while some patients can benefit from hospice care, other types of multiprofessional support may be needed too (e.g. geriatric medicine, rehabilitation, mental health)³², especially if people are on their own and very frail.

Despite the existence of different illness trajectories, a high prevalence of certain symptoms seems to cut across different conditions. Solano et al³⁵ found that 11 symptoms were spread across advanced stages of five diseases: cancer, AIDS, heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, and renal disease. Pain, breathlessness and fatigue were found amongst more than half of all patients. Depression was also common amongst all patients (from 36% to 82% across illnesses). This suggests that there is an unmet need for symptom control across a range of advanced illnesses. The existence of an increasing number of older people with different needs is challenging, and demands flexibility to develop comprehensive hospice care. However, it should be possible to develop care packages and services based on symptoms and problems that can help people with a variety of different conditions³⁶. Integration of hospice care with chronic disease management can help to meet care needs common to different groups, while also addressing specific individual needs^{32, 35, 37}.

What about UK mortality trends in the past five years? From 2007 to 2011, the annual number of deaths in England decreased from 470,721 deaths in 2007 to 452,862 deaths in 2011 (average decrease of 4,465 of deaths per year or 0.9% average annual decrease), although the reduction was not consistent throughout the years (Table 2). This decrease in the number of deaths happened in all the UK countries. In Wales, there was an annual average decrease of 431 deaths (or 1.4% annual average decrease) from 2007 to 2011³⁸⁻⁴². In Scotland there was an annual average decrease of 581 deaths (1.0% average annual decrease) across the five years⁴³⁻⁴⁷, while in Northern Ireland there was an annual average decrease of 11 deaths (0.7% annual decrease)⁴⁸⁻⁵². Similarly to England, reductions in the number of deaths in Scotland and Northern Ireland were not consistent throughout the years (Table 2)⁴⁷. The age group over 65 accounts for at least 79% of all deaths in each of the UK countries in the five years studied, these are highlighted in Table 2³⁸⁻⁴².

Table 2- Mortality in England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland (2007-2011)						
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	
	n (%)					
England						
Total deaths	470,721	475,763	459,241	461,017	452,862	
Deaths 65+						
65-74	75,929 (16.1)	75,969 (16.0)	73,852 (16.1)	73,970 (16.0)	73,100 (16.1)	
75-84	149,448 (31.7)	147,315 (31.0)	140,175 (30.5)	138,450 (30.0)	134,096 (29.6)	
85+	163,894 (34.8)	170,553 (35.8)	165,214 (36.0)	169,743 (36.8)	169,100 (37.3)	
Wales						
Total deaths	32,148	32,066	31,006	31,197	30,426	
Deaths 65+						
65-74	5,524 (17.2)	5,512 (17.2)	5,389 (17.4)	5,314 (17.0)	5,239 (17.2)	
75-84	10,324 (32.1)	10,110 (31.5)	9,558 (30.8)	9,469 (30.4)	9,112 (29.9)	
85+	10,686 (33.2)	11,022 (34.4)	10,725 (34.6)	11,241 (36.0)	10,910 (35.9)	
Scotland						
Total deaths	55,986	55,700	53,856	53,967	53,661	
Deaths 65+						
65-74	10,814 (19.3)	10,612 (19.1)	10,205 (18.9)	10,092 (18.7)	10,019 (18.7)	
75-84	17,630 (31.5)	17,589 (31.6)	16,686 (31.0)	16,877 (31.3)	16,475 (30.7)	
85+	15,997 (28.6)	16,106 (28.9)	15,941 (29.6)	16,093 (29.8)	16,501 (30.8)	
Northern Ireland						
Total deaths	14,649	14,907	14,413	14,457	14,204	
Deaths 65+						
65-74	2,476 (16.9)	2,584 (17.3)	2,539 (17.6)	2,606 (18.0)	2,457 (17.3)	
75-84	4,696 (32.1)	4,611 (30.9)	4,427 (30.7)	4,268 (29.5)	4,223 (29.7)	
85+	4,397 (30.0)	4,681 (31.4)	4,449 (30.9)	4,531 (31.3)	4,668 (32.9)	

Sources: ONS. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011); GRO. Vital Events Reference Tables 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011; NISRA. Registrar General Northern Ireland Annual Report 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011.

3.2 What are people dying from?

Across all the UK countries, there is a similar distribution of deaths by different causes. At least 27% of all deaths in the five years studied were due to cancer, with the number and proportion of cancer deaths slightly increasing from 2007 to 2011, reaching 29.6% of all deaths in England and 29.3% in both Scotland and Northern Ireland (Table 3). Following worldwide trends, the number and proportion of deaths due to ischaemic heart disease have decreased from 2007 to 2011 (average annual decrease of 3,101 deaths in England and Wales, 427 in Scotland, and 132 in Northern Ireland). Likewise, the number and proportion of deaths from cerebrovascular diseases decreased steadily in England and Wales; in Scotland and Northern Ireland this decrease had yearly fluctuations.

There has been an increasing tendency to record dementia and Alzheimer's (a disease than underlies many dementia cases) as cause of death²⁶. The ONS also reports that up to 2010 some cases of vascular dementia were being coded as cerebrovascular disease (this changed in 2011)⁵³. However, the number of deaths from dementia for all countries is still likely to be underestimated. According to the Alzheimer's Society, only 43% of people currently living with dementia have been officially diagnosed⁵⁴. Issues such as diagnostic definitions (broader or more restricted) and calculations of incidence based on small studies also help to explain why dementia is usually underreported^{27, 55}. Nonetheless, the number and proportion of dementia deaths are increasing in all the UK countries, despite a reduction in 2009. From 2007 to 2011, there was an annual average increase of 3,823 dementia deaths in England and Wales, 138 in Scotland and 109 in Northern Ireland.

27 (0.2)

39 (0.3)

		,			. ,
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
	n (%)				
England and Wales					
Cancer	140,080 (27.8)	141,143 (27.7)	140,497 (28.6)	141,446 (28.7)	143,181 (29.6)
Ischaemic heart disease	79,910 (15.9)	76,985 (15.1)	72,170 (14.7)	70,196 (14.2)	64,435 (13.3)
Cerebrovascular diseases	46,597 (9.2)	46,446 (9.1)	43,595 (8.9)	43,363 (8.8)	35,977 (7.4)
Chronic lower respiratory diseases	25,668 (5.1)	26,902 (5.3)	25,419 (5.2)	25,985 (5.3)	25,568 (5.3)
Dementia	14,948 (3.0)	16,610 (3.3)	16,424 (3.3)	18,349 (3.7)	30,257 (6.2)
Alzheimer's disease	5,697 (1.1)	6,231 (1.2)	6,194 (1.3)	6,757 (1.4)	7,505 (1.5)
Parkinson's disease	4,371 (0.9)	4,744 (0.9)	4,789 (1.0)	5,021 (1.0)	3,710 (0.8)
Multiple sclerosis	1,002 (0.2)	1,050 (0.2)	1,012 (0.2)	1,004 (0.2)	1,062 (0.2)
Scotland					
Cancer	15,570 (27.8)	15,525 (27.9)	15,484 (28.8)	15,618 (28.9)	15,731 (29.3)
Ischaemic heart disease	9,343 (16.7)	8,841 (15.9)	8,274 (15.4)	8,138 (15.1)	7,636 (14.2)
Cerebrovascular diseases	5,333 (9.5)	5,367 (9.6)	4,906 (9.1)	4,764 (8.8)	4,594 (8.6)
Chronic lower respiratory diseases	3,104 (5.5)	3,037 (5.5)	2,986 (5.5)	2,807 (5.2)	3,062 (5.7)
Dementia	2,446 (4.4)	2,590 (4.6)	2,585 (4.8)	2,745 (5.1)	2,994 (5.6)
Alzheimer's disease	549 (1.0)	624 (1.1)	634 (1.2)	665 (1.2)	917 (1.7)
Parkinson's disease	309 (0.6)	303 (0.5)	315 (0.6)	363 (0.7)	345 (0.6)
Multiple Sclerosis	122 (0.2)	112 (0.2)	120 (0.2)	133 (0.2)	140 (0.3)
Northern Ireland					
Cancer	3,992 (27.3)	4,086 (27.4)	3,992 (27.7)	4,111 (28.4)	4,159 (29.3)
Ischaemic heart disease	2,494 (17.0)	2,410 (16.2)	2,305 (16.0)	2,234 (15.5)	1,966 (13.8)
Cerebrovascular diseases	1,325 (9.0)	1,329 (8.9)	1,175 (8.2)	1,239 (8.6)	1,094 (7.7)
Chronic lower respiratory diseases	693 (4.7)	760 (5.1)	786 (5.5)	737 (5.1)	774 (5.4)
Dementia	405 (2.8)	520 (3.5)	472 (3.3)	504 (3.5)	841 (5.9)
Alzheimer's disease	291 (2.0)	293 (2.0)	241 (1.7)	279 (1.9)	335 (2.4)
Parkinson's disease	118 (0.8)	122 (0.8)	163 (1 1)	116 (0.8)	113 (0.9)

Table 3 – Numbers and proportions of deaths by selected underlying causes of death and country (2007-2011)

Sources: England and Wales: ONS. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011). Scotland: GRO. Vital Events Reference Tables 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011. Northern Ireland: NISRA. Registrar General Northern Ireland Annual Report 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011.

30 (0.2)

36 (0.2)

27 (0.2)

Multiple Sclerosis

3.3 Where are people dying?

By analysing England and Wales separately, it can be seen that home deaths increased in both countries, although there was a slight decrease in 2008 in Wales (in both numbers and proportions) and a decrease in numbers in England in 2009 (Table 4). This translated into an average increase of 1,668 home deaths per year in England and 61 in Wales, from 2007 to 2011. Still, in both countries home deaths remain below a quarter of all deaths. It is important to notice that the ONS reports home deaths and care home deaths separately, differently from the approach adopted by the UK End of Life Care Strategy (which merges care homes and own homes as "usual place of residence" and uses the number of deaths in these settings as a key marker of progress for the Strategy)⁵⁶.

Inpatient hospice deaths have increased only marginally in England, whilst in Wales there was an increase in proportions up to 2010 followed by a decrease in both numbers and proportions in 2011. The proportion of deaths taking place in these settings is higher in England but small in both countries (5.6% in England and 2.7% in Wales in 2011). There was an average increase of 266 inpatient hospice deaths per year in England and an average decrease of 29 in Wales, from 2007 to 2011. While the proportion of deaths in hospitals/care homes decreased steadily in England (average 0.9% decrease per year, representing on average 6,467 less deaths per year - driven by increases of deaths in NHS institutions), there was an irregular pattern in Wales across the years. The proportion of NHS hospital/care home deaths was higher in Wales (69.3%) compared to England (64.2%) in 2009, but the opposite was true for non-NHS institutions (representing 9.5% of all deaths in England and 8.4% in Wales, also in 2009)³⁸⁻⁴².

When analysing England and Wales together, we see that home deaths increased for both genders, but women still die at home less often than men (18.6% compared to 25.1% for men in 2011) (Appendix C). Although home deaths have also increased for those aged 85+ (1,125 annual average increase in the number of deaths), this group still dies at home less often than all other age groups over the age of four. Cancer patients die more frequently at home than non-cancer patients (28.7% versus 18.9% in 2011), although the number of home deaths has increased for both groups. Proportions of home deaths also varied across regions, ranging from 21.0% in London to 22.5% in the East Midlands and East of England⁵³.

In England and Wales, the marginal increase in inpatient hospice deaths happened for both genders, although proportions for men are higher than for women (5.7% for men compared to 5.2% for women in 2011) (Appendix C). The proportion of inpatient hospice deaths also increased marginally in all age groups (except amongst those up to 14 years old), with the highest average annual increase amongst those aged 65-75 (0.2% per year). Throughout the five years analysed, cancer patients died more frequently in inpatient hospices than non-cancer patients (16.9% compared to less than 1% of non-cancer patients in 2011), regardless

able 4 - Deaths by p		and and in wates (2007-2011)		
	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)
England					
Home	91,974 (19.5)	94,715 (19.9)	93,236 (20.3)	95,831 (20.8)	98,645 (21.8)
Hospice	24,426 (5.2)	23,958 (5.0)	24,096 (5.2)	24,651 (5.3)	25,490 (5.6)
Hospital/care home	308,358 (65.5)	308,915 (64.9)	294,755 (64.2)	N/A	N/A
NHS	263,119 (55.9)	263,023 (55.3)	251,340 (54.7)	N/A	N/A
Non-NHS	45,239 (9.6)	45,892 (9.6)	43,415 (9.5)	N/A	N/A
Wales					
Home	6,463 (20.1)	6,359 (19.8)	6,352 (20.5)	6,583 (21.1)	6,708 (22.0)
Hospice	887 (2.8)	888 (2.8)	873 (2.8)	938 (3.0)	830 (2.7)
Hospital/care home	22,482 (69.9)	22,608 (70.5)	21,502 (69.3)	N/A	N/A
NHS	19,941 (62.0)	20,055 (62.5)	18,894 (60.9)	N/A	N/A
Non-NHS	2,541 (7.9)	2,553 (8.0)	2,608 (8.4)	N/A	N/A

Hospices include Sue Ryder Homes, Marie Curie Centres, oncology centres, voluntary hospice units and palliative care centres. N/A - not available. Source: ONS. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011. of age. Consequently, there was a marked difference in absolute numbers (24,185 cancer patients died in inpatient hospices in 2011 compared to only 2,176 non-cancer patients) (Appendix C).The proportion of cancer deaths in inpatient hospices across the five years studied remained roughly the same (16.9% both in 2007 and 2011). Amongst non-cancer patients, children 5-14 years have the highest proportion of inpatient hospice deaths. There was a small increase in absolute numbers of inpatient hospice deaths for both cancer and non-cancer patients (annual average increase of 124 deaths for cancer and 128 for non-cancer), including for those over 85 years old, who are commonly referred to as the "oldest old" (average increase of 76 deaths per year for cancer and 55 for non-cancer). We find a similar trend to home deaths, with the oldest old dying in inpatient hospices less often (in both cancer and non-cancer) (Figure 1)³⁸⁻⁴².

When analysing inpatient hospice deaths by English region, it can be seen that London and the South of England had similar proportions of inpatient hospice deaths during the entire five-year period (Figure 2). The South of England is the region with the highest number of inpatient hospice deaths (8,215 in 2011). The Midlands and East is the region with the highest annual average increase of inpatient hospice deaths (n=125), while London is the region with the lowest (annual average increase of two deaths from 2007 to 2011).

Analysing trends for hospitals and care homes is more

Figure 1 – Proportion and absolute number of inpatient hospice deaths by age and cause of death in England and Wales (2007-2011)







Figure 2 – Proportion and absolute number of inpatient hospice deaths by English region (2007-2011)



Proportion of inpatient hospice deaths

Absolute number of inpatient hospice deaths



Source: ONS. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011.

difficult since these two places are shown together until 2009. It is known, however, that the overall number and proportion of institutionalised deaths have decreased up to this year⁵⁷. Wales and London have the highest proportion of deaths in these settings (69.3% and 68.0% respectively), while the South of England has the lowest (60.9%). The distribution of cancer/non-cancer deaths in these settings (i.e. hospitals and care homes) is less heterogeneous than in inpatient hospices and at home, since at least half of all deaths occurred in hospital/care homes, regardless of illness (51.2% of cancer patients and 69.9% of non-cancer patients in 2009). The proportion of people dying in these settings increases with age from 15 years onwards regardless of illness (except for non-cancer patients over 85 years old)³⁸⁻⁴².

Mortality data from 2010 and 2011^{42, 53} show the current number of deaths in hospitals and care homes separately. The number of hospital deaths has decreased from 264,962 deaths in 2010 to 249,387 in 2011, a 6% decrease (Appendix C), while the number of care home deaths has increased from 89,320 deaths in 2010 to 92,386 in 2011, a 3% increase. The proportion of hospital deaths is slightly higher for men than for women (53.2% for men in 2011 compared to 49.9% for women), while the proportion of women dying in care homes is almost twofold (24.8% for women in 2011 as compared to 13.0% for men). Since women live longer than men, they are less likely to have spouses as caregivers, and more likely to need institutionalised support⁵⁸. This would also explain why women die less often at home when compared to men. The proportion of deaths in care homes is also higher for the oldest old in England and Wales; more than a third (33.9%) of deaths in this age group in 2011 happened in a care home. Perhaps this is not surprising as older people with life-limiting conditions (e.g. dementia) and with less social support than their younger counterparts can potentially be better assisted receiving 24-hour institutionalised health and social care. The extent to which needs are currently met in care homes is, however, uncertain (Box 1).

Data show that the differences in inpatient hospice deaths are very similar to the differences in home deaths for older people, women and patients with non-cancer conditions. These groups are also less likely to die in inpatient hospices. Furthermore, although more people are now dying at home and in inpatient hospices, more than half of the population still die in hospitals. It is important to acknowledge the fact that hospital deaths are very likely to remain a reality for a substantial proportion of the population, and that death and dying in these settings are not always accompanied by negative outcomes for patients and families (see section 5).

Some of these trends are also evident in Scotland and Northern Ireland (Box 2). In these countries most

people still die in hospitals, although the numbers and proportions of home and inpatient hospice deaths have been slowly increasing^{62, 63}. In Scotland, cancer patients aged 85+ still die less often at home (17.1% in 2008) and in inpatient hospices (11.0% in 2008) than any other adult age group.

Box 1 - Care homes as places to live and die

Around 376,000 older people live in care homes in the UK⁵⁹. Many have high levels of health and social care needs. The residents are often disabled, requiring assistance in activities of daily living (ADL) such as washing, eating or getting dressed and have some sort of cognitive impairment⁶⁰. Approximately 40% have particular needs as a result of dementia. Other chronic conditions and cancer are also common. These are usually accompanied by other problems such as loss of appetite and dehydration. Currently (2011), 19% of all deaths in England and Wales happen in care homes⁵³.

There are wide variations in access to healthcare services for care home residents across the UK. The Care Quality Commission conducted an online survey with Primary Care Trusts (PCTs) about the services provided to people living in care homes in 2009/2010⁵⁹. This showed that PCTs had very different views on the healthcare needs for people living in care homes; they also did not seem to understand that many older people die shortly after moving into residential care. PCTs also had difficulties in answering the survey questions. The study showed a significant variation in the specialist services available to older people; provision of a geriatrician service to care homes was found in 60% of PCTs. The authors concluded that care for older people was not an active priority for PCTs.

There is current recognition that more needs to be done in this setting and that it will have increasing importance in the future³². Improving collaboration between care homes and hospice care teams is a key component of the Gold Standards Framework in care homes (GSFCH), for example⁶¹.

Box 2 - Place of death in Northern Ireland and Scotland

Similarly to trends in England and Wales, at least half of deaths in Northern Ireland still happen in hospitals, although there has been a reduction in both the proportion (0.6% annual average reduction) and absolute number of deaths (average reduction of 135 deaths per year) between 2007 and 2011. In 2009, however, there was an increase in the proportion of hospital deaths (not accompanied by an increase in numbers). Proportions and absolute numbers of nursing home deaths have increased.

Place of death in Northern Ireland (2007 – 2011)							
	2007 n (%)	2008 n (%)	2009 n (%)	2010 n (%)	2011 n (%)		
Hospitals Nursing home All other places	7,520 (51.3) 2,259 (15.4) 4,870 (33.2)	7,515 (50.4) 2,427 (16.3) 4,965 (33.3)	7,355 (51.0) 2,241 (15.5) 4,817 (33.4)	7,311 (50.6) 2,309 (16.0) 4,837 (33.5)	6,980 (49.1) 2,914 (20.5) 4,310 (30.3)		

In Scotland, at least half of cancer patients die in hospitals, although there was a decrease from 2007 to 2008 in both proportions and absolute numbers (from 51.0% to 50.1%, a reduction of 137 deaths).

Place	or death in So	cotianu for ca	ncer patients	(2007 - 2006	9)				
		Home n (%)	NHS ac	NHS acute hospital n (%)		Hospices n (%)		Other institutions n (%)	
	2007	2008	2007	2008	2007	2008	2007	2008	
all ages	3,732 (24.5)	3,761 (24.7)	7,760 (51.0)	7,623 (50.1)	2,729 (18.0)	2,839 (18.7)	981 (6.5)	988 (6.5)	
0-5	7 (58.3)	0 (0.0)	4 (33.3)	2 (100.0)	1 (8.3)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
5 -14	8 (57.1)	10 (58.8)	6 (42.9)	6 (35.3)	0 (0.0)	1 (5.9)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	
15-44	90 (25.8)	105 (30.3)	151 (43.3)	148 (42.8)	106 (30.4)	92 (26.6)	2 (0.6)	1 (0.3)	
45-54	262 (28.9)	235 (26.9)	418 (46.0)	377 (43.1)	218 (24.0)	257 (29.4)	10 (1.1)	6 (0.7)	
55-64	689 (28.4)	715 (30.0)	1,146 (47.2)	1,113 (46.7)	559 (23.0)	529 (22.2)	33 (1.4)	28 (1.2)	
65-74	1,173 (27.7)	1,165 (27.2)	2,147 (50.7)	2,138 (50.0)	794 (18.8)	872 (20.4)	120 (2.8)	101 (2.4)	
75-84	1,112 (22.5)	1,117 (22.9)	2,649 (53.6)	2,577 (52.8)	817 (16.5)	820 (16.8)	361 (7.3)	369 (7.6)	
85+	391 (16.9)	414 (17.1)	1,239 (53.4)	1,262 (52.0)	234 (10.1)	268 (11.0)	455 (19.6)	483 (19.9)	

Trends of cancer deaths at home and in inpatient hospices are similar to England and Wales. In 2008, 24.7% of cancer patients died at home. Both numbers and proportions of home deaths have increased from 2007 to 2008. Almost a fifth (18.7%) of cancer patients died in inpatient hospices in 2008; there were increases in numbers and proportions from 2007 to 2008. Also in a similar pattern to England and Wales, the oldest old patients are less likely to die at home and in inpatient hospices.

Sources: The Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency (2012). Registrar General Annual Report 2011. Scottish Cancer Registry (2010). Deaths from Cancer by Place of Death: Scotland, period 2004-2008

3.4 What do we know about trends in hospice care services?

The study of mortality trends is based on death registration information, which is subject to a series of validation and completeness checks⁶⁴. Despite some limitations (such as some inconsistencies regarding cause of death) mortality data are a reliable source of information to guide policy and future care planning. Trends in hospice care services, on the other hand, are more complicated to assess. Place of death information can help by providing the number of people who die in receipt of hospice care in inpatient hospices and palliative care units, but it does not report on those who might have had a hospice-enabled death at home, hospitals and care homes. Furthermore, each hospice care provider can have a different system in place to register patient activity; and a single patient might be in receipt of hospice care in more than one setting. Compiling information on hospice care usage in a consistent, standardised way is therefore very challenging. As a consequence, there are currently no official statistics available that accurately show UK trends over time in terms of hospice care provision.

Help the Hospices publishes yearly statistics about hospice care in the UK in its Hospice and Palliative Care Directory⁹. The data are shown for inpatient hospice units, palliative care units (and the respective number of beds for both), community and hospital providers of hospice care. Although information is available on the number of providers, there is no data on the number of services each of them offers, or how far reaching services from the same provider can be (e.g. in terms of geographical coverage or number of partnerships with other providers). Although the number of available beds is helpful to estimate service capacity, the data are limited in terms of overall patient activity and hospice care provision.

The Minimum Data Set (MDS) for specialist palliative care reports on UK patient activity in specialist services in the voluntary sector and the NHS (inpatients, day care, community care, hospital support, bereavement support and outpatients). The MDS is heavily dependent on hospice services completing a survey every year. The overall response rate in 2010 reached 62%, varying widely by service type (from 44% for bereavement and outpatient services to 75% for home care services)65. If the services that do not respond to the survey do not have the same patterns as those that do, then national estimates are not an accurate portrait of the UK hospice services. Another limitation of the dataset is the fact that the number of people using each service is estimated based on the number of contacts, and one single patient is likely to have had more than one contact in one year. The National Council for Palliative Care is aware of the limitations (which also affect data comparability across years) and is working towards improvements.

One of the consequences of having limited data on care provision is that we do not accurately know how many people were in receipt of hospice care in a given year, especially in settings other than inpatient hospices and palliative care units. We also do not know if the current services are being used to their full capacity, and this makes it difficult to plan how much expansion is needed to accommodate the increasing demand in the future.

3.5 Is the UK population expected to increase in the future?

According to the most recent ONS projections, the UK population is expected to increase 17.5% from 2010 to 2035 (from an estimated 62.3 million to 73.2 million)¹¹ (Table 5). The biggest increase in numbers will be in England (19%) and the smallest in Scotland (11%). The post Second World War baby-boom generation, now in their 60s, will continue into the oldest ages; this group will represent the over 85s in 2035. Another baby-boom generation was born in the 60s; by 2035 these will be amongst those over 70 years old⁶⁶.

		een population ap				
	2010	2015	2020	2025	2030	2035
England	52.2	54.5	56.6	58.6	60.4	62.1
Wales	3.0	3.1	3.2	3.3	3.3	3.4
Scotland	5.2	5.4	5.5	5.6	5.7	5.8
Northern Ireland	1.8	1.9	1.9	2.0	2.0	2.0

Table 5 – UK estimated and projected population up to 2035 (in millions)

Hospices include Sue Ryder Homes, Marie Curie Centres, oncology centres, voluntary hospice units and palliative care centres. N/A - not available. Source: ONS. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011. The ONS predicts that the UK population's median age will increase from 39.7 years in 2010 to 42.2 years in 2035¹¹. Although women are still living longer than men, the age differential has been decreasing throughout the years and the trend is expected to continue. Men are projected to represent 43.2% of all adults aged 85 years or older in 2035 (an increase from the ONS estimates of 36.8% in 2010)¹¹.

The increasing number of older people will not be the only driver of future hospice care. People are also more often living alone, often with limited support from friends and relatives²³. An increasing number of people are employed outside the home, making them unable to provide full-time care⁶⁷. Furthermore, the fertility levels in the UK have decreased throughout the years and are below "the replacement level", meaning that the number of children per women is not enough for the population to replace itself in the long term (this is calculated without accounting for the effect of migration). Government incentives for family planning and more certainty about children surviving until adulthood had an impact on families, which started to get smaller⁶⁸. The ONS estimates that the average completed family size for women born in the UK in 2010 or later will level off at 1.84 children for women.

Despite the levelling off of fertility, the number of births is expected to increase in the upcoming years due to factors such as increased inward migration of women of childbearing age⁶⁹. Furthermore, although women today have fewer babies than older generations, previous higher fertility resulted in a larger number of women entering reproductive ages⁶⁸. This growth in the number of births is relevant since it might represent more people who can potentially become caregivers, but in the later future they would also be amongst the growing number of people in need of care. The number of deaths is expected to surpass the number of births in Scotland from the late 2020s, in Wales from the late 2030s, and in Northern Ireland from mid-2050s. In England, this is not expected to happen in projections up to year 2060⁶⁹ (Figure 3).

3.6 What about the projected number of deaths?

According to the latest ONS projections, population growth will be accompanied by an increase in mortality from around 2015¹¹. This means that the decrease in mortality that we have seen in the past few years will be replaced by an escalating number of deaths. When analysing projections in 5-year trends, we see that from 2011 to 2015 there will be an average decrease of 837 deaths per year. From 2016 to 2020, there will be an annual average increase of 1,269 deaths, from 2021 to 2025 an average increase of 4,343 deaths per year, 6,971 annually from 2026 to 2030 and 8,181 from 2031 to 2035. The previous ONS projections were based on more pessimistic assumptions about life expectancy and over



Source: ONS. National Population Projections 2010-based Statistical Bulletin.

projected future number of deaths; this helps to explain why previously the increase of deaths was expected to happen from 2012 onwards⁷⁰.

The ONS estimates that those aged 65 and over will account for 23% of the total UK population by 2035²¹. While there were 1.4 million people aged 85 or older in 2010, this should increase to 1.9 million in 2020 and up to 3.5 million in 2035¹¹. The number of centenarians is projected to increase more than eightfold, from 12,636 in 2010 to over 100,000 in 2035 (Figure 4). This represents an additional 2.1 million very old people with increasing care needs. The oldest old will correspond to 5% of the entire population in 2035 (compared to 2% in 2010).

Will people die older?

Due to the population ageing, deaths will also be increasingly happening at an older age. While in 2010 the oldest old represented 35.9% of all UK deaths (201,716 deaths), the proportion is expected to increase to 49.5% in 2035 (a total of 328,469 deaths for this age group) (Table 6). Taking gender into account, in 2035 women will represent 55.7% (182,849) of all deaths (Appendix A).

What will people die from?

A growing number of older people means a higher demand for care to help them with multiple comorbidities and chronic conditions common in old age²³. Cancer and dementia are especially relevant conditions since a substantial number of people will be dying with them (either as the main cause of death or as a contributory cause of death) (Box 3). The demand for hospice care for the older age group is therefore expected to increase sharply in the future. Joint work with geriatric medicine and disease-specific specialties will be crucial. Increased disability is also likely to drive demand for settings such as care homes; the need for care home beds is forecast to rise by up to 150% over the next 50 years⁶⁰.

Figure 4 – Estimated and projected UK population aged 65+ and age distribution



Source: ONS. National Population Projections 2010-based Statistical Bulletin.

Table 6 – Actual and projected number and proportion of oldest old deaths in the UK (2010-2035)

85+ deaths	2010	2015	2020	2025	2030	2035
85-89	104,357 (18.6)	95,974 (17.3)	94,532 (16.8)	97,990 (16.7)	105,344 (16.9)	127,128 (19.2)
90-94	64,509 (11.5)	74,609 (13.4)	77,464 (13.7)	83,923 (14.3)	93,356 (15.0)	105,169 (15.8)
95-99	27,535 (4.9)	28,988 (5.2)	38,494 (6.8)	45,284 (7.7)	55,692 (8.9)	67,587 (10.2)
100+	5,315 (0.9)	6,423 (1.2)	8886 (1.6)	13,579 (2.3)	19,321 (3.1)	28,585 (4.3)

Source: ONS. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2010. ONS. Projected number of deaths obtained upon request.

Box 3 - What are the current projections for cancer and dementia?

Different predictions for cancer in the UK point to an increasing number of cancer deaths in the future. Olsen et al's⁷¹ projections published in 2008 show that the annual numbers of cancer deaths in the UK are expected to increase 30% for men and 12% for women by 2023. Furthermore, with an increased number of cancer cases and improvement in medicine, the number of cancer survivors is also expected to increase. Maddams et al⁷² reported that in 2040 almost a quarter (23%) of people over 65 will be a cancer survivor (compared to 13% in 2010). Current evidence suggests that cancer survivors who are not in good health have similar needs to those patients with chronic conditions⁷³. When accompanied by frailty due to old age and comorbidities, hospice care may also be required for this group. Cancer Research UK recently predicted a fall in mortality rates for some types of cancer (17% fall by 2030)⁷⁴. Mortality rates are based on the population size (number of deaths per 100,000 population, in this case). As the UK population is expected to increase, a rise in the number of cancer deaths is likely even if the mortality rates become lower. Hence, it is crucial to examine the actual number of deaths in addition to mortality rates in order to plan future provision of hospice care.

The Alzheimer's Society estimates that in the UK over a million people will have dementia in 2021, with over half a million having undiagnosed dementia if current trends continue⁵⁴. Their projections of people in the UK with dementia show 1.7 million by 2050; with one in three people over 65 expected to die with dementia (although not necessarily having dementia as the main cause of death)⁵⁴. People with dementia have a median survival of 5.0 to 9.3 years²⁷ and are high users of health and social care services²⁹. Dementia has a disproportionate impact in capacity for independent living and is one of the leading causes of non-fatal disability in the developed world^{27, 29}.

Key points in section 3

- The older people get, the more likely they are to suffer from cancer and chronic debilitating conditions such as dementia, which can benefit from hospice care. Needs may vary according to disease groups, but aspects such as symptom control are a common requirement.
- At least half of people still die in hospitals in all UK countries. Non-cancer patients, women and the oldest old die at home and inpatient hospices less often than other age groups. Older women die in care homes more often than men. More than a third of deaths amongst the oldest old take place in care homes.
- The UK population is expected to escalate in the future. Since people are living longer, this will be accompanied by an increase in mortality for people in older ages. Deaths due to dementia and cancer will increase. It is likely this will translate into a much higher demand for hospice care and long-term care in settings such as care homes.
- Current statistics on hospice care capacity and usage are limited; this affects the ability to plan future hospice care provision to meet demand.

What does this mean in terms of action?

- The number and distribution of deaths (e.g. by age, gender and cause of death), the incidence and mortality of conditions such as cancer and dementia are key factors shaping the population's need for hospice care in the future. Projections help to indicate future demand. Some of these factors may vary across the UK and need to be analysed locally for hospice care planning (see section 7 for local sources of data).
- It is crucial to investigate why inequalities in place of death persist despite efforts to invert the situation, especially
 regarding non-cancer patients and the oldest old. These could be due to a fault in service provision or different needs/
 priorities for these groups, for example. Currently, the reasons are not fully understood.
- Inpatient hospices have limited numbers of beds to support an increasing demand; alongside that, many patient groups might benefit from hospice care provided elsewhere. Diversifying hospice care provision to different care settings and collaborations with different providers is required.
- More robust statistics of hospice care provision are required so potential ways of using existing inpatient hospice beds better can be investigated. The projected increase in overall numbers of deaths also suggests that more inpatient hospice beds and community hospice services will be needed to meet demand.

4. Where people wish to be cared for and die: meeting preferences

4.1 Where would people prefer to be cared for and die?

Enabling people to make genuine choices about the care they receive towards the end of life is one of the core values of hospice care³². Meeting people's preferences has also been a goal of the End of Life Care Strategy in the UK¹. This includes addressing people's preferences and priorities for treatment, and also where they would like to live and die.

Published studies on preferences for place of care and death in the UK and worldwide show that most people would prefer to die at home. Higginson and Sen-Gupta's systematic review of preferences for place of care in advanced cancer published in 2000¹³ found that home was the most common preference (ranging from 49% to 100%); this was followed by an inpatient hospice preference. The reported proportions varied considerably, possibly due to issues such as different populations (patients, general public, caregivers), care settings, type of illness, service availability and cultural differences. Murtagh et al also reported that preferences differed markedly between individuals and across conditions⁷⁵. Higginson and Sen-Gupta emphasised that preferences were recorded and elicited in different ways, an issue also raised by a recent methodological review investigating the congruence between preferred and actual place of death⁷⁶.

For the purposes of this report, we carried out a literature review to provide a clear picture on preferences for place of care and place of death in the UK and found a total of 27 studies (Appendix B). More than half (15 studies) refer to internal audits or quality assessments in specific care settings. We also found that home was the most frequently chosen place of death in most studies (except for one study in a teaching hospital in London where home was the second choice, with 33%, following hospice with 37%); across studies, home preferences ranged from 32% to 85%. Inpatient hospices and palliative care units were the second most frequently chosen place in all studies, except for an audit of Preferred Priorities for Care (PPC) documents where hospice was the most frequent choice with 37% of patients wishing to die there, and three studies where hospices were the third most commonly chosen place. Across all studies, inpatient hospice preferences ranged from 2% to 38%. It is possible that, similar to home preferences, differences in settings, service availability and cultural issues might have played a role in the variation of estimates.

In order to meet people's preferences and develop individualised care plans when preferences cannot be met, it is crucial to understand the reasons underlying these preferences. This will be considered in the next section.

4.2 Who prefers to die at home or in inpatient hospices/palliative care units, and why?

"Well it's your home, it's your home, you're not among strangers. You can get up when you want to, you're comfortable, you can sit in comfort and watch the television, you can read when you want to, you don't have the discipline at home and that is a big, big thing"⁷⁷

"If I did get to the stage where J [my husband] couldn't look after me, I wouldn't mind going in the hospice at all, now I've seen how good they are and how capable they are. And they look after you so well. I wouldn't mind going there"⁷⁸

Reasons for preferring to be cared for and to die at home are widely discussed in the literature. Home is a familiar place; it also allows people to be surrounded by their things and loved ones⁷⁷⁻⁸⁰. Home death is also considered an attribute of a "good death", although dying at home does not necessarily mean dying well. Hence, it is crucial to assess whether home deaths are indeed associated with better outcomes for patients and families, and which factors help to achieve these outcomes.

There is less evidence on who prefers to die in inpatient hospices or palliative care units and why this happens. Higginson's 2003 telephone survey with 950 members of the general public in England, Wales and Scotland showed that preferences for inpatient hospice deaths increased with age, were higher for women and for those with a professional and management background⁸¹. Qualitative studies with patients in inpatient hospices and their families report peaceful deaths, individualised care and a "home like environment"^{82, 83}. Some also see inpatient hospices as the best alternative to home since they would not be able to manage on their own, or would be too much of a burden to their family if they remained in their own home⁷⁸. Seymour et al⁸⁴ interviewed 77 White and 92 Chinese older adults living in the UK about their views on end of life care. The authors found that while for White participants inpatient hospice care seemed to be symbolic of the hope for a "good death", Chinese participants identified their concerns that being in an inpatient hospice would mean having the word death "thrown in your face all the time". Other participants showed resistance towards inpatient hospices (especially those from more deprived areas), for whom going to an inpatient hospice was a clear sign that death was inevitable and imminent. Studies assessing the quality of care and patient/caregiver satisfaction with care found that inpatient hospices are usually considered the "gold standard" (see section 5) and this might be an influencing factor for choosing this setting as the preferred place to die. Unlike hospitals and care homes, reports of inadequate care and subsequent media coverage are not common for inpatient hospices⁸⁵.

Evidence of factors independently associated with the choice of a place of death is limited and not conclusive¹³. Gomes et al¹⁹ investigated whether preferences for home death were associated with previous experiences of serious illness, death and dying and socio-demographic characteristics in seven European countries. Previous experiences were not found to have an influence. The odds of preferring home decreased as age increased (up to 60 years old), and also for those aged 70+ (except in England). In a country-specific model for England, the authors found that preferences were associated with retirement (those who were retired were less likely to choose home), while those who gave higher priority to dying in the preferred place were more likely to choose home.

Following the need to investigate further which

factors are associated with preferences, we have used the PRISMA data to do a similar analysis, this time investigating factors associated with choosing hospices or palliative care units as the place to die.

4.3 Factors associated with choosing inpatient hospices or palliative care units as the place to die: results from the PRISMA survey

"The care in the hospice where my mother was cared for was second to none...They were absolutely fantastic, everybody was looked after, including the whole family." Female PRISMA participant, 45 years old, chose hospice as her preferred place to die

A total of 1,351 adult members of the general public (64% women, median age 56) were interviewed in England in 2010. Most had some experience with illness, death or dying: 13% had been diagnosed with a serious illness in the last five years; 71% had lost a close relative/ friend to death and 63% had a close relative/friend diagnosed with a serious illness in the last five years. Half of the participants (51%) had supported/cared for a friend or close relative in their last months of life.

Home was the most commonly chosen place to die in all regions (63% of 1,351 participants). Hospices or palliative care units were the second most frequently chosen option (29% of 1,351 participants would prefer to die in a hospice or palliative care unit). Less than 10% of participants chose the home of a relative or friend (1%), hospital (3%), nursing home or residential home (2%) or somewhere else (2%) as their preferred place to die¹⁹.

There were no significant differences in a preference for hospice/palliative care unit according to geographical region, gender, living arrangements (alone or with others), being at work, in education, unemployed, sick or disabled or being diagnosed with a serious illness. There were also no differences in terms of education level or self-perceived financial/health status.

However, we found that those who had cared for (p=0.002) or experienced the death of a relative or friend (p=0.021) more frequently chose hospice as their preferred place to die. The same was true for participants who belonged to a religion or denomination (p=0.035), were retired (p<0.001), lived in a city or in its outskirts (p=0.035), were widowed or married (p<0.001) or were older (with the exception of those aged 55-64, who preferred to die at home in 67% of cases; p<0.001).

People for whom having as much information as wanted was the most important priority for care at the end of life chose hospice/palliative care unit more frequently as their preferred place to die (p=0.010). Those for whom dying in

the preferred place was not their most important priority chose more frequently hospice/palliative care unit as their preferred place to die (p<0.001). All significant variables (p<0.05) are shown in Figure 5.

All the nine variables found to be significant in bivariate analysis were included in a logistic regression model, but almost all lost significance after accounting for the influence of other factors. The only factors independently associated with choosing hospice/ palliative care unit as the preferred place of death were younger age (those aged 16-24 years were less likely to choose hospice than their older counterparts) and not choose dying in a preferred place as the most important priority (more likely to choose hospice) (Appendix D). The same two factors were found to be associated with a preference to die at home in our previous analysis, but in the opposite direction¹⁹, which suggests that they may influence decisions that involve these two settings as potential places to die.

Other factors might have lost significance because people who live longer might have had more experiences caring for someone who was ill. Older people are also more likely to be retired and to be widowed, especially if they are women (since they live longer than men)⁵⁸. Likewise, older people are more likely to belong to a religion⁸⁶ and the number of older people in big cities and outskirts of big cities is increasing⁸⁷.

The results from PRISMA suggest that dying well, regardless of where it happens, can be more important than dying in the preferred place for people who chose hospice/palliative care unit. This highlights the importance of listening to people's preferences for place of death, but also to understand how important those preferences are for them in the bigger scheme of things. Issues such as having good symptom control, being at peace and not burdening their families might be seen as more important priorities, regardless of the place of death. There is further evidence supporting this idea⁸⁸⁻⁹⁰. On the other hand, studies (including the PRISMA survey) also show that older people are more likely to prefer to die in a hospice or palliative care unit than their younger counterparts. An increasing number of older people is therefore likely to be accompanied by a growing demand for inpatient hospice and hospice-supported beds.

Figure 5 – Preference for dying in a hospice/palliative care unit by participant characteristics



4.4 Are people's preferences being met?

There are several studies reporting whether patients and families' preferences for place of care or death are met⁹¹⁻ ⁹⁴. However, most refer to audits in a particular region or setting. Moreover, congruence between preference and actual place of death is usually reported for a group instead of for each particular individual. Some studies only report the proportion of patients who died in their preferred place, without mentioning where the preferred place was⁷⁶. Others compare preferences from a certain group to actual place of death from different groups with similar characteristics⁹⁵. Bell et al's⁷⁶ review found that most studies did not provide data on both preferred and actual place of death for all settings (e.g. while eleven studies provided complete data for preferred and actual home deaths, only six studies provided complete data for nursing home deaths). Due to all these differences, it is difficult to accurately estimate how often people's preferences are being met.

A few studies in the UK report complete data on meeting preferences (i.e. preferences and actual place of death for home, hospitals, inpatient hospices and care homes). In 2009, Holdsworth et al⁹⁶ investigated achievement of death in the preferred place for 124 community and inpatient hospice patients in the South East of England who had expressed a preference. The percentage of patients who wanted to die at home and actually died there was 53%; percentages were lower for care homes (50%), but higher for hospice (86%) and hospital (two patients wished to die in a hospital and both died in this setting). Gerrard et al's¹⁶ retrospective review in a hospital in London in 2007 and 2009 (315 comparisons) had slightly higher proportions of preferences being met for home (55%) and care home (59%), lower for hospice (68%) and the same for hospital (100%).

Bell et al⁷⁶ found that overall congruence between preferences and actual place of death ranged from 30% to 90% across all 18 included studies. Six studies (two from the UK and one from Ireland) allowed comparisons by place of death for cancer patients. Findings supported that preferences were more frequently met for those dying at home (ranging from 68% to 100%) than for those who died in other settings (0% to 31% for hospital, 25% to 85% for hospice and 7% to 100% for nursing home). Other studies in the UK seem to support the same findings^{93, 96, 97}. The authors emphasise in most cases that the data were obtained retrospectively from bereaved relatives (instead of patients themselves). Furthermore, most studies assessed preferences only at one point in time, and there is conflicting evidence about whether people's preferences change as they come closer to death^{93, 98}, with reasons being poorly understood at the moment.

There is strong evidence that expressing preferences can influence dying in the place of choice⁹⁹. Hence, adopting standardised tools to assess preferences can be beneficial, provided measures are in place to allow preferences to be met whenever possible. Some initiatives in the UK are also helping more people to die in their preferred place, although further evaluation is needed. The Marie Curie Delivering Choice Programme and the Electronic Palliative Care Coordination Systems (EPaCCS) are examples. Both involve cooperation and coordination between different service providers in order to provide more comprehensive support for patients and allow them to die where they wish (Box 4).

Assessing patients' preferences and priorities for care is very important to allow them to die where they wish, but also for other decisions regarding care (such as treatment options). Documents such as the PPC are used to register advance care plans, crucial in a context of increased cognitive impairment and inability to make decisions at the end of life. Advance care plans can be sensitively initiated at early stages of illnesses/ conditions³². When adopted, these have been shown to reduce anxiety, depression, and post-traumatic stress in surviving relatives and to improve patient and family satisfaction with care in hospital settings¹⁰².

"Dying well, regardless of where it happens, can be more important than dying in the preferred place for people who chose hospice/palliative care units." "Older people are more likely to prefer to die in a hospice or palliative care unit than their younger counterparts."

Box 4 – Which UK models might allow more people to die in their preferred place?

Marie Curie Delivering Choice Programme:¹⁰⁰

The Marie Curie Delivering Choice Programme works in partnership with the NHS, the voluntary sector, social services and other health care providers in order to provide patient-focused 24-hour service to meet needs and ensure that people's preferences for place of care are met. They implemented a range of services in Lincolnshire based on an investigation of barriers to providing choice and high-quality hospice care. These included the creation of a Palliative Care Coordination Centre to book packages of care for patients in the community, education activities and videoconferencing for those involved in care provision, wider support for patients and caregivers via support groups at a local hospice, a community-based Rapid Response Team (RTT) to provide nursing services to patients requiring hospice care and professionals during twilight and out-of-hours periods (this included guidance over the telephone) and appointment of Discharge Community Link Nurses (DCLNs) to facilitate speedy discharge of patients to their preferred place of care. An evaluation of the programme found that it was associated with a statistically significant increase in the proportion of death at home (19% to 23%) and a decrease in the proportion of hospital deaths. This happened without additional overall costs. The proportion of home deaths amongst patients who accessed the programme services rose even more dramatically (19% to 42%). 54% of the patients with cancer who accessed the DCLNs and were supported by the RRT to remain in the community were able to die at home. So far, the programme has funded and managed seven projects across the UK, while other localities are adopting the programme methodology independently by using the programme toolkit and consultancy service. More information is available on their website: http://deliveringchoice.mariecurie.org.uk/.

Electronic Palliative Care Coordination Systems (EPaCCS):

EPaCCS provide a means of recording and communicating key information about people's wishes and preferences for end of life care⁵⁶. These systems aim to improve coordination of care so that people's wishes can be met (including their preferences for where to die). EPaCCs have been piloted in several regions in England, including in the London area (where they are called "Coordinate My Care")¹⁰¹. A healthcare professional (such as GP, hospital doctor or nurse) discuss with the patient their condition and their views on future care. If the patient agrees, his/ her details (age, address, diagnosis, medications and preferences) are included in an electronic network. An alert is also sent to the London Ambulance Service and the out-of-hours GP service in the patient's area. The database is frequently updated and the records can be accessed 24/7 by health and social care professionals responsible for the patient's care. As a result, all relevant professionals know about the patient's preferences. Up to August 2011, 73% of all patients with a record died in their preferred place, while 25% died in hospital (compared with the London proportion of 59%). More information can be found in the 4th Annual Report of the End of Life Care Strategy: http://www.dh.gov.uk/health/files/2012/10/End-of-Life-Care-Strategy-Fourth-Annual-report-web-version.pdf.; a training pack for Coordinate My Care can be found here: http://www.royalmarsden.nhs.uk/ SiteCollectionDocuments/coordinate-my-care/cmc-training-pack.pdf.

Key points in section 4

- Preferences for place of care and place of death can vary according to characteristics such as age, health conditions and priorities for care. Cancer patients choose home more frequently than non-cancer patients. However, home remains the most commonly preferred place; this is usually followed by an inpatient hospice preference.
- PRISMA findings report that older people choose hospice or a palliative care unit more frequently than their younger counterparts. Since people are living longer and will represent a higher proportion of the population in the future, it is likely that both the absolute number and the proportion of those wishing to die in an inpatient hospice bed or palliative care unit will increase.
- There is some evidence suggesting that a substantial group of people prefer to die in an inpatient hospice (available evidence shows a range from 2% to 38% in the proportion of people expressing this preference) because it has a "home like environment" and is the best place when home is not feasible. People also see hospices as "the gold standard" of end of life care.
- It is not fully clear how often people's preferences for place of care and place of death are met (available evidence points to a range from 30% to 90%), but it is known that those who die at home have their preferences met more often than those who die elsewhere. If we contrast this with mortality data shown in section 3, it is reasonable to say that most people are not dying in their preferred place.
- Considering the large proportion of people who wish to die at home and in hospices or palliative care units, it is unlikely that preferences can be met for everyone (in terms of capacity, but also individual and environmental circumstances).
- Priorities for care can be as important as preferences for place of care and place of death. Documenting these is crucial so that people's wishes can be respected in the context of the increasing cognitive impairment that accompanies conditions such as dementia.
- Collaboration between different services and specialties may help to allow more people to die where they wish.

What does this mean in terms of action?

- Although a diversification of hospice care provision is required, evidence on preferences suggests that more hospice beds (in inpatient hospices, palliative care units and similar settings) and/or better ways to use the existing inpatient hospice beds will be needed to meet preferences, especially for older people.
- Listening to people's preferences and priorities for care can help to plan adequate hospice care in different settings, even when preferences for place of death are impossible to be met. Listening to patients and caregivers allows for the creation of adequate and realistic care plans.
- The use of standardised tools to record preferences and priorities for care is encouraged. It is also important to try to assess preferences more than once and understand the reasons underlying people's preferences.
- It is paramount to seek closer collaborations between hospices and other care providers. Local practices such as the Marie Curie Delivering Choice Programme show that these collaborations are possible. Adequate communication between care providers might allow for timely coordination of transfers so that people can die where they wish.

5. Evidence that hospice care makes a difference to patients and caregivers

5.1 What do we know about people's experiences of hospice care?

With a growing number of people having hospice care needs, it is crucial to assess the care provided in different settings in order to inform service planning decisions and the implementation of best practice. Patients' and families' experiences are critical to understanding the quality of the care provided. In order to advocate for the need to expand hospice care provision, one needs evidence showing that hospice care is an effective and also cost-effective model of care when compared to standard care, while also meeting patients' and families' preferences. However, there is still a long way to go to understand the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of hospice care. There should be a much stronger research focus on understanding and assessing the quality of hospice care provided to patients and their families.

It is well known that conducting controlled evaluations comparing hospice care with standard care for patients at the end of life is challenging. Ethical concerns are frequent and loss of participants is common due to the deterioration of conditions or death¹⁰³. Definitions of what constitutes hospice care and standard care vary across countries, across studies and care settings. Measured outcomes (e.g. quality of life, pain, other symptoms) and the chosen tools to assess these are also variable¹⁰⁴. As a result, the existing evaluations of hospice care have many different designs and there are several observational studies, some without a comparative element. The outcomes measured also vary considerably across studies¹⁰³. It is therefore not surprising that results across studies are not always consistent. Furthermore, most studies on the effectiveness of hospice care for patients and their families focus on cancer, only a few have studied the impact for people facing other illnesses such as human immunodeficiency virus/acquired

immunodeficiency syndrome (HIV/AIDS), heart/renal failure or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Patients with illnesses other than cancer are more likely to fail to receive timely referrals to hospice care, making it even more important to understand their experiences of care¹⁰⁵.

What is the benefit for patients and family caregivers?

Despite these limitations, several reviews of the literature have reported the benefits of hospice care for patients when compared to standard care in a variety of care settings^{102, 106, 107}. However, a critical gap remains: there is a lack of evidence on which models of hospice care work better. Studies comparing different care models are needed to understand which care components have the best results for patients and their families. Close collaboration between different services, and interventions which are strongly based on evidence and piloted, have produced positive results (Box 5). Gardiner et al¹⁰⁸ investigated factors supporting good partnership working between generalist and specialist palliative care services. They enumerated several factors such as: good communication between providers, clear definition of rules and responsibilities; opportunities for shared learning and education; appropriate and timely access to specialist palliative care services; and coordinated care.

Published systematic reviews describe improvements in symptom control^{103, 110-112}, particularly in pain^{103,} ^{110, 112-114}. There are also reports of increased patient satisfaction with care^{112, 115-118}, increased chances of home death^{118, 119} or of dying in the preferred place¹¹¹. However, review authors also report insufficient evidence about improvements on other physical and psychological symptoms¹²⁰, mixed results about the effects on psychosocial and spiritual problems¹¹³, no differences on patients' functional status, psychological well-being or cognitive status¹¹⁸ and conflicting evidence on patients' quality of life^{114, 120, 121}. Smeenk et al's review investigating Box 5 - A novel palliative care service for patients with multiple sclerosis (MS) in London, UK

Edmonds et al³⁷ carried out a fast-track RCT (two groups received the intervention, but at different times) with 52 MS patients in a teaching hospital in London. The intervention team included a consultant in palliative medicine with training in neurology and special interest in MS, a clinical nurse specialist and an administrator. There were weekly multi-professional MS clinics with a consultant neurologist and also meetings to discuss caseload and for consultant input. The team worked closely with the local hospital palliative care team (specifically with their psychosocial worker).

The intervention was grounded in previous systematic reviews of evidence and followed the Medical Research Council framework for the evaluation of complex interventions¹⁰⁹. For each patient there was an initial comprehensive assessment (which included assessment of caregiver concerns and advance care planning), development of an action plan and follow-up. Calls and visits followed depending on needs. The specialist palliative care service appeared to positively affect some key symptoms (pain, nausea, vomiting, mouth problems and problems sleeping) and also reduced informal caregiver burden. The authors emphasised that the palliative care intervention is unlikely to replace the key role of MS and rehabilitation services, but palliative care services may have an important role in short-term interventions. Furthermore, they highlighted the need to conduct a larger study to test their findings and verify which aspects from their intervention were most useful.

the effectiveness of home care programmes for patients with incurable cancer¹¹⁷ found "some significant positive influence" on patient's quality of life and psychosocial dimensions. Harding et al's systematic review on AIDS¹²² found limited evidence that home palliative care and inpatient hospice care significantly improved outcomes for patients with HIV (pain and symptom control, anxiety, insight and spiritual well-being).

Evidence on the effectiveness of hospice care for family caregivers is scarcer. Reviews have reported that specialist palliative care significantly improved caregivers' anxiety¹¹⁰ and satisfaction^{112, 116, 120, 121}. There is limited evidence on the improvement of psychological symptoms^{113, 118, 120} and mixed results about the effects on spiritual problems of patients and relatives¹¹³. Stajduhar's review¹²³ on home-based caregiving at the end of life reports limited positive effects of palliative care interventions improving caregiver quality of life, perceived burden, preparedness, perceived competence, caregiving rewards and having informational needs met. Harding et al^{124, 125} highlighted the need to increase the number of robust interventions with tested outcome measures in order to generate evidence on effectiveness of care for family caregivers.

One of the most needed research areas is the impact of hospice care on family caregivers, in terms of bereavement outcomes. Being a core component of hospice care, bereavement services are mostly funded by the voluntary service¹²⁶, and services for those who do not have access to hospice care are lacking¹²⁷. Most available evidence of effectiveness is from case studies in hospices^{127, 128}. An exception is Grande et al's RCT¹²⁹ conducted with patients referred to a hospital at home service in Cambridge (UK). The authors found no difference in grief scores (measured with the Texas Revised Inventory of Grief) when comparing patients receiving hospital at home services with those receiving standard care. Field et al¹²⁸ surveyed UK hospices and specialist palliative care services providing adult bereavement support and found variation on the way needs were assessed, showing the need to evaluate the effectiveness of the services provided. Semi-structured interviews and focus groups in five English hospices showed that participants were "largely satisfied" with the support they had received¹³⁰, but there was no clear evidence to suggest what should be considered "best practice" in terms of bereavement support¹³⁰.

Is hospice care cost-effective?

Assessing the costs of hospice care is challenging for several reasons, especially when these involve costing a range of community services⁵. It is possible that some models of hospice care are more cost-effective than others, but at the moment there is not enough information to confirm this; evidence on comparative cost-effectiveness is lacking. A limited number of reviews have investigated the costs and/or cost-effectiveness of hospice care. While Hearn et al¹¹¹ found evidence showing a reduction of costs, others have pointed to scarce evidence of significant costs reduction¹²¹ or found mixed results on the use and costs of health services¹¹³. Reduction effects in resource use have been reported, Carer UK estimates that there are over six million people providing unpaid care to frail, ill or disabled people in the UK. According to the charity, the economic value of the contribution made by carers in the UK reaches £119 billion a year¹³¹.

Caring for someone can be rewarding and fulfilling, but can also be a huge burden for family caregivers. They frequently neglect their own health; more than a third of caregivers experience psychological distress, some can also become socially isolated. Financial difficulties are also common due to high costs of care and the need to leave work in order to become a full time caregiver^{67,132}. With an ageing population, it is very likely that many caregivers have their own health problems. Older family caregivers also provide longer hours of care than their younger counterparts and have fewer social, economic and hospice care resources to cope¹³².

It is clear that family caregivers need more help; evidence shows that this should encompass psychological and emotional support, information, help with personal, nursing and medical care of the patient, out-of hours and night support, respite and financial help⁶⁷. Population ageing and changes in society are likely to further increase caregiver burden; it is therefore even more worrying that we still do not know which aspects of hospice care are effective to help them.

Studies also show that family caregivers have a central role in allowing people to die at home^{17, 99}. This has strong implications for future care planning. Without appropriate support for caregivers, it is very likely that more patients will need institutionalised care; and less of them will be able to die at home.

Most caregivers do not get enough help from the formal care system¹³¹. It is extremely urgent to understand which models of care are more efficient to support family caregivers; further assistance (such as compassionate care benefits currently provided in countries such as Canada and Sweden¹³³) is also required. The Department of Health is currently working on better understanding and supporting caregivers; more information can be found on their website: www.dh.gov.uk/health/files/2012/07/White-Paper-Caring-for-our-future-reforming-care-and-support-PDF-1580K.pdf.

especially in terms of hospital admissions or days in hospital^{110, 111, 134}, but also of general healthcare use¹¹⁶.

Individual studies have reported cost savings when using hospice care teams instead of standard care, although most of the recent studies are not from the UK. An exception is the fast-track RCT in South East London (UK)¹³⁵, which evaluated the cost-effectiveness of a new service for people with MS described in Box 5. Caregiver burden was found to be significantly lower in the intervention group compared with the control group, with no statistically significant differences in total costs amongst both groups. The authors found there to be a trend toward lower community costs in the intervention group and no differences in costs to family caregivers. The intervention potentially offered savings of £1,195 in community costs per patient over three months and a total cost saving per patient of £1,789 (including inpatient and informal caregiver savings). This was found to be mainly due to a lower use of primary and acute hospital services. An in-home program with terminally ill patients in the US¹³⁶ improved patient satisfaction at 30 and 90 days after enrolment, increased the probability of dying at home, and significantly reduced the overall and average day costs

of care. Costs for those receiving the program were 33% lower than for those receiving usual care (average savings of US\$ 7,552 per patient).

5.2 Do outcomes for patients and families differ according to place of death?

Is dying at home better?

At the moment, there is not enough evidence to suggest that a home death is associated with better outcomes for patients and their families. The evidence is contradictory on pain, grief and other symptoms. Tang¹³⁷ found that pain was more likely for patients who died at home (compared to hospital deaths), while Pinzon et al¹³⁸ found the opposite (even when accounting for confounding factors). Addington-Hall and Karlsen¹³⁹ reported greater grief for relatives of patients who died at home (compared to those who died elsewhere), while Wright et al¹⁴⁰ found that the relatives of patients who died in hospital were more likely to have a prolonged grief disorder. In an earlier study, Parkes et al have reported worse symptom control

for people who died at home (as opposed to hospital)¹⁴¹. Systematic reviews report that evidence is also lacking on whether hospice care provided at home is more effective than hospice care provided elsewhere^{142, 143}.

In 2011, a national mortality followback survey with 22,292 bereaved relatives⁹⁷ showed that involvement in decisions about care was more frequent for relatives of patients who had died at home (92%). This group also had the highest proportion expressing preferences for place of death (67%) and was more likely to be reported as having had enough choice on where to die (88%). On the other hand, only 17% of relatives of patients dying at home reported pain relief being provided "completely, all of the time" (contrasted with 36% in hospital, 45% in care home and 62% in hospice).

What about dying in an inpatient hospice?

"Her room would beat the finest hotel room all to pieces—it was fully equipped, radio, television, a private bath, glass doors that opened onto a little place outside. The furniture was—well of course the bed itself was only a sick bed you know—but the other furniture was just comfortable as it could be—recliners and all that⁸³"

Publications and studies on patients' and families' experiences with inpatient hospice care started being carried out in the UK shortly after the start of the modern hospice movement¹⁴⁴⁻¹⁴⁸. Perhaps due to the voluntary aspect of inpatient hospices, reports usually refer to a single hospice or a small group of hospices. Exceptions are postal surveys carried out with bereaved relatives^{97,} ¹⁴⁹. Most available studies seem to indicate that inpatient hospice care is the "gold standard" compared to care in other settings. However, caution should be taken since the study design and setting affect the extent to which results can be generalised to other hospices. More robust studies are needed in order to verify the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of inpatient hospice care, and how it compares to care in other settings.

Early studies at St. Christopher's Hospice¹⁴⁶ found that patients suffered less from pain when at the hospice (compared to hospital), although throughout the years there was a remarkable improvement for hospitals, until the difference no longer existed¹⁵⁰. Patients were often less confused at the hospice, although the proportion reporting confusion also decreased in both settings throughout the years. Spouses seemed to be "significantly less anxious" when patients were in a hospice as compared to other settings¹⁵⁰.

In the early 1990s, Seale et al¹⁵¹ compared 45 patients receiving inpatient hospice care with 126 receiving standard care and interviewed relatives of the deceased patients. Respondents' levels of satisfaction with hospice care (both inpatient and at home services) were significantly higher than for other types of care. During final admissions, hospice patients also had less medical interventions.

A study using the VOICES questionnaire¹⁵² with 382 bereaved relatives of patients who died in 2002 in London found eight statistically significant differences when measuring levels of satisfaction with inpatient hospice and hospital care. All of them favoured inpatient hospice care (these included better pain control, better communication and better medical, nursing and personal care). More recently, with an adapted VOICES questionnaire used nationwide with 22,292 bereaved relatives across England⁹⁷, inpatient hospice care received the highest scores in several measures of satisfaction and quality of care (settings included home, hospital, hospices and care homes). Rates were also the highest in categories such as "being shown dignity and respect by staff", "having pain relieved", "having their personal and nursing needs met" and "having had adequate privacy". Patients who died in an inpatient hospice (along with those who died at home) were also more likely to be reported as having had as much support as they wanted, having had enough choice of where they might die and to have died in the right place according to respondents. Relatives of patients who had died in an inpatient hospice were most likely to report having received adequate support at the time of death (for both patients and families) and having been dealt with in a sensitive manner after the patient died. They were also the most likely group to have talked to someone about their loss after the patient died.

"It is crucial for inpatient hospices to assess which aspects of their care are more effective and cost-effective and verify how these can be transferred to other care settings."

Key points in section 5

- There is evidence that hospice care is associated with better outcomes for patients (such as improvement in symptom control, satisfaction with care and increased chances of dying at home), regardless of the care setting. However, findings are mixed regarding improvement in patients' quality of life and impact of hospice care on family caregivers (including bereavement). Furthermore, we do not know which models of hospice care work better.
- Although individual studies suggest that hospice care can reduce care costs, there is not enough evidence to support the statement that hospice care is more cost-effective than other models of care. Studies on cost-effectiveness are urgent.
- Evidence is also lacking on whether dying at home is better than dying elsewhere, research findings are still conflicting on symptoms such as pain.
- Inpatient hospice care is recognised by the quality of care provided, judged by patients and their caregivers. In a recent national survey, inpatient hospice care was rated better in several categories such as satisfaction with care, better care quality and receiving adequate support at the time of death. However, the evidence is still limited, particularly on what specific attributes make inpatient hospice care so good.

What does this mean in terms of action?

- It is crucial for inpatient hospices to assess which aspects of their care are more effective and cost-effective and verify how these can be transferred to other care settings. Voluntary hospices can be major providers of evidence-based practices proven to be effective. Research should also identify which aspects of care can be improved. Local audits are helpful, but partnerships with universities and research centres can aid the design of robust interventions.
- Further evidence on the effectiveness of hospice care for family caregivers is required so they can be better supported.
- Hospice care has been shown to be effective in different care settings (such as people's homes, hospital wards, nursing homes, assisted living facilities, etc.). It is important to remember that a great proportion of people will still die in hospitals and care homes. Therefore, collaborations with hospital clinicians and other health care professionals in care homes need to be developed.

6. Take home messages

"We also need to improve our evidence base for inpatient hospice care. Our assumption that hospices are centres of excellence does not mean that we should not assess their care and aim to improve it. Furthermore, where excellent care exists, there should be further impetus to rigorously assess what makes it excellent to establish whether some of its components may be translated to other settings" (Grande, Palliat Med 2009¹⁵³)

6.1 Limitations and need for more evidence

The UK population has been ageing, and the trend is expected to continue in the following decades. Older age is often accompanied by cancer and chronic, debilitating conditions, shaping the patterns in death and dying. Those in need of hospice care will be increasingly more likely to be older and fragile, demanding flexible, specialised care in a variety of settings, which is dependent on local resources, but also on patient's personal circumstances, needs and preferences. Older people with conditions other than cancer need special attention.

Mortality trends from the past five years show that at least 50% of people in the UK still die in hospitals, although the number and proportion of home deaths have increased (in 2010 a fifth of all deaths happened in this setting). Place of death varies according to age (with older people less likely to die at home and in inpatient hospices and more likely to die in care homes), gender (with women more likely to die in care homes) and cause of death (with cancer patients more likely to die at home and in inpatient hospices).

Although the majority of people would prefer to die at home there is a substantial proportion of people who would prefer to die elsewhere, with inpatient hospices or palliative care units being the second most frequent setting of choice. People's preferences seem to be influenced by the need to be in a familiar place and surrounded by family and friends, but are also underlined by personal conditions and concerns about burdening loved ones. The fact that inpatient hospices are considered a "gold standard" in terms of care might also influence the preference to die in this setting. Emerging evidence suggests that younger people are less likely to choose inpatient hospices, while those who do not choose dying in a preferred place as their most important priority are more likely to choose hospices. We also see that there is evidence showing that hospice care provided in diverse settings is beneficial to patients compared to standard care. Reports on the congruence between preferences and actual place of death show that preferences are more often met for those who die at home, and less for those who die elsewhere.

It is clear from the data, however, that more evidence is needed in several areas. We still do not know how beneficial hospice care can be for family caregivers. It is known that family caregivers are crucial to allowing patients to die at home when possible; and that people living alone are less likely to die at home^{75, 99}. Furthermore, due to population ageing, current and future family caregivers are likely to need support themselves²³, and this needs to be considered in any care plan that aims to be sustainable.

Further evaluation of the cost-effectiveness of hospice care, regardless of setting, is crucial for future hospice care planning. Not being able to cost community care is a big setback since this is expected to be one of the main sources of hospice care provision in the future. We also still do not know if dying at home is better than dying elsewhere, or which models of hospice care are more effective and cost-effective.

We also need to better understand the needs and preferences of older people and those with nonmalignant conditions so they can be better supported. "The growing number of older people with chronic conditions needs to be accompanied by a corresponding increased availability of care services to provide adequate hospice care."

Older people, although often preferring to die in an inpatient hospice (and at home), tend to die in hospitals and care homes. The preferences of people with non-malignant conditions are less studied, but recent evidence indicates they choose home less often than cancer patients. Perhaps these groups are in greater need of specialised care that only hospitals and care homes are providing at the moment (due to comorbidities or their need for intensive care). It might be that new models of care are needed for these patients. It is possible that they are admitted to hospital due to serious complications, or due to misdiagnosis (for example, in the case of patients with dementia during a crisis). It can also be that it is difficult for older people and those with non-malignant conditions to access services; evidence suggests that these groups are less likely to receive timely referrals to hospice care¹⁰⁵. This could limit their ability to die at home. Furthermore, it is crucial to remember that these two groups are closely related. In light of the ageing trends we are likely to see increasing numbers of older people with non-malignant conditions.

This report has further limitations in addition to those that derive from a lack of evidence. There are other factors influencing hospice care needs that we have not considered in detail. Social inequity is a crucial issue which deserves a separate report. It has an impact on all aspects of health, from birth until death - with implications for hospice care. Life expectancy for those who are socially deprived is lower than for wealthier counterparts. Furthermore, when socially deprived groups manage to reach older age they are more likely to suffer from chronic conditions and to spend more of their later years of life with a disability¹⁵⁴. The extent to which the British society will be affected by certain conditions and the corresponding needed investment in health and social care is therefore dependent on addressing social inequalities. The Marmot Review is core reading on the

topic¹⁵⁴. We also recommend interested readers to consult the reports on deprivation published by the NEOLCIN (available at www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk), Tebbit's reports on palliative care needs according to UK regions ⁸ and additional literature on the topic^{155, 156}.

Another area not thoroughly analysed in this report is the importance of social care when planning to meet the future care needs of older people. Social care provided in the community can help reduce inappropriate hospital stays⁵⁶, and with the ageing of population and more people living alone, the demand for social care is expected to increase.

We have also focused mainly on two causes of death: cancer and dementia. These are key conditions for future hospice care planning, representing more than a third of all deaths in each UK country. However, they are not the only ones. Anyone with a life-limiting illness can potentially benefit from hospice care. This is the case for patients with conditions such as end-stage renal disease and long-term neurological conditions (which include Alzheimer's, Parkinson's disease, MS, motor neurone disease, Huntington's disease and stroke)^{157, 158}.

We have provided a general picture of the current and future hospice care needs, usually referring to the UK as a whole. Local areas can have different socio-demographic characteristics. The number of deaths, mortality rates, the incidence of specific illnesses and the number of older people living alone are examples of factors that influence hospice care needs⁸. Rural areas with a scattered population might need more resources per head of population⁸. Cultural variations can play a role, and there are issues regarding cultural equivalent translations of terms¹⁵⁹ such as "hospice". All these factors need to be locally examined in each UK region before making any strategic planning for the future. In section 7 and in the reference list at the end of this publication we provide local sources of information, but they are by no means exhaustive.

6.2 What are the next steps?

The growing number of older people with chronic conditions needs to be accompanied by a corresponding increased availability of care services to provide adequate hospice care. This will need to be done in a variety of settings (e.g. home, hospitals, care homes and other places), with home as a priority but increasing the number of hospice beds (in inpatient hospices and palliative care units) is also needed as preferences for these settings come second and are expected to increase. Ways to better use available hospice beds should be investigated; this involves obtaining more robust information on hospice capacity and usage. Further investment in hospice care is urgently required to meet future demand.

We have made recommendations throughout the report based on the available evidence. It is very positive that the current evidence shows hospice care being effectively implemented in different settings and making a difference to patients and their families. It is also encouraging that inpatient hospice care is seen as a "gold standard" by those who receive or might receive such care. Evidence also suggests that diversification and collaborations (including training to share best practices) are a step forward, and successful stories can already be seen. However, while this is true, it is certain that more robust research is needed in the area.

There is no doubt that the upcoming years will be challenging. Much needs to be done to meet future demand and we hope that this report clarified some of the main challenges to be faced. We hope it can also provide encouragement in discussions currently taking place about the UK health care system as a whole. Decisions being made now will affect all of us as health providers and recipients of care. "There is no doubt that the upcoming years will be challenging. Much needs to be done to meet future demand and we hope that this report clarified some of the main challenges to be faced."

7. Where can I find local population data?

Key local population indicators can be found here:

- Current population estimates (local and unitary authorities) for England and Wales, by age and sex.
 Publication has links for reference tables in Excel.
 Estimates based on the 2011 Census: www.ons.gov.uk/ ons/dcp171778_270487.pdf.
- Life expectancy by UK regions: www.ons.gov.uk/ons/ dcp171778_238743.pdf
- Number of deaths by place of death and by age according to health authority (tables 11 and 13, year 2010): www.ons.gov.uk/ons/publications/re-reference-tables.html?edition=tcm%3A77-230730.
- Local end of life care profiles (England only) available in an interactive atlas and pdf files. These are shown by local authorities and primary care trusts. Population and deaths by age, place of death, place of death by underlying cause of death and other causes; annual expenditure for those over 65+, amongst other indicators: www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/ end_of_life_care_profiles/default.aspx.
- Interactive mapping tool with trends in mortality at the local level: www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk/ dissemination/
- People with dementia (diagnosed and undiagnosed) are available from the UK Dementia map. Searches by Health Authority, city and address: http://alzheimers. org.uk/dementiamap.
- Projected numbers of dementia by PCT www.nepho. org.uk/uploads/doc262_1_brief003_10.pdf
- Cancer incidence by Health Authority in England, also references for further statistics and where to find statistics for Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland: www.ons.gov.uk/ons/dcp171778_267154.pdf.
- Variations of place of death in England (data on different Health Authorities): www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/view.aspx?rid=71
- Health and Wellbeing reports for Scotland. Local area reports covering 67 indicators of a range of health

outcomes: www.scotpho.org.uk/comparative-health/ profiles/2010-chp-profiles

- The NHS information centre has several health and mortality indicators for England and Wales, plus data by strategic health authorities, government office regions, local authorities, primary care organisations and counties: https://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/
- The website Projecting Older People Population Information (POPPI) provides population data by age band, gender, ethnic group, religion, tenure, transport, living with no central heating, household growth and by state pension for English local authorities. Registration (free) is required: www.poppi.org.uk/

These sources provide relevant local data on preferences for place of care and place of death:

- PRISMA survey on local preferences for place of death. National telephone survey with the general public. Results shown by Government Office Regions in England: www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/view. aspx?rid=157
- Studies in Appendix B which are relevant to your local area
- Local PCT/ research group sites –for published results from audits/research. One example is a report by NHS Lanarkshire (www.nhslanarkshire.org.uk/Services/ PalliativeCare/Documents/PPC%20Audit%20Final.pdf)
- Department of Health's page with results from the VOICES survey. National coverage. Table 29 in main file and Appendix B has benchmarking results by PCT cluster on whether patient expressed preference on where to die and whether relative thought patient had died in the right place: www.dh.gov.uk/health/2012/07/ voices/
- Critical success factors that enable individuals to die in their preferred place of death – study in seven PCT areas (Croydon, Blackpool, Bath and North East Somerset, East Sussex Downs and Weald, Bradford

and Airedale, County Durham, Oxfordshire): www. endoflifecareforadults.nhs.uk/assets/downloads/EoLC_ CSF_Report_for_Publication_2.pdf

Here you can find local sources of data on care experiences, best practices and quality ratings for hospice care:

- Examples of good hospice care practice across the country: www.kingsfund.org.uk/document.rm?id=8802
- Survey of specialist palliative care in Sheffield: www.nao. org.uk/publications/0708/end_of_life_care.aspx
- Benchmark ratings for PCT clusters in end of life care (national VOICES survey): www.dh.gov.uk/health/ files/2012/07/First-national-VOICES-survey-of-

bereaved-people-key-findings-report-final.pdf

- Review the End of Life Care Pathway in the South West of England with particular emphasis on the gaps in information available on the provision of services - www.endoflifecare-intelligence.org.uk/view. aspx?rid=19
- Adaptation of the King's Fund's Enhancing the Healing Environment (EHE) in eight UK pilot sites (including Marie Curie Hospices in Glasgow and Hampstead) – www.kingsfund.org.uk/document.rm?id=7601
- The Care Quality Commission (CQC) is inspecting 50 NHS sites and 500 care homes on dignity, nutrition and social care. The report on the inspections is expected to be published soon: www.cqc.org.uk/

"Local areas can have different sociodemographic characteristics. The number of deaths, mortality rates, the incidence of specific illnesses and the number of older people living alone are examples of factors that influence hospice care needs."





Source: Office for National Statistics (2012). Projected number of deaths obtained upon request.

Addington-Hall et al 1999¹⁶⁰

Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham, London, EN Bereaved relatives of patients who died of lung cancer, coronary heart disease or stroke. Deaths registered in 1998

Survey with bereaved relatives using the VOICES questionnaire 17 valid cases: 77% home, 23% hospice

Bowers et al 2010¹⁶¹

GP practice covering rural villages and an urban area in Cambridge, EN

Patients who died in the six months following changes to follow Gold Standards Framework. Deaths registered in 2009

Audit on PPC documents 21 valid cases: 52% home; 19% hospice; 14% NH; 14% hospital

Brettle 1995¹⁶²

City Hospital in Edinburgh, SCT

HIV patients who had attended the city hospital and died from 1986 up to the end of 1992

Audit of case notes (medical and nursing) 47 valid cases: 32% home; 32% hospice; 32% hospital; 4% other

Charlton et al 1991¹⁶³

Nine GP waiting rooms in South West SCT and a large semirural/urban practice in EN; Derby GP practices in EN

Patients attending the GP waiting rooms; control group chosen at random from Derby GP practices; group P with patients who had close personal experience of death or dying. Data collection within a ten-month period, year not stated

Survey using questionnaire on aspects of care of the dying

3690 valid cases (public): 70% home;19% hospice;11% hospital 77 valid cases (control): 69% home; 17% hospice: 14% hospital 61 valid cases (Group P): 54% home; 38% hospice; 8% hospital

Cox et al 2011¹⁶⁴

Hospital Specialist Palliative Care service, a GP practice service, a Heart Failure Community Matron service and a Nursing Care home, "Regional Cancer Network", EN

Sample of patients (cancer and non-cancer) who died over a 12 month period; Year of data collected not stated

Audit of case notes and complementary group interviews with healthcare professionals

31 valid cases: 55% home; 10% hospital; 3% hospice; 32% care home

Daley et al 2006¹⁶⁵

Specialist palliative care services in Bradford and Airedale, West Yorkshire, EN

Patients in receipt of the palliative care services who died during the study period. Deaths from Oct 2004 to Sep 2005

Audit on PPC documents

243 valid cases: 59% home; 27% hospice; 8% hospital; 6% NH

DoH 201297

All regions in EN by using death registration data Bereaved relatives of patients who died of cancer, cardiovascular diseases and others. Deaths from Nov 2010 to Jun 2011 Survey with bereaved relatives using the VOICES questionnaire 7723 valid cases:71% home; 7% hospice; 3% hospital; 5% CH; 14% elsewhere

Dunlop et al 1989¹⁶⁶

Major teaching hospital in London and surrounding areas, EN

Consecutive patients who died after being referred to a hospital support team. Deaths from Dec 1986 to Aug 1987

Analysis of recorded data on place of death 90 valid cases: 53% home; 29% hospice; 14% hospital; 3% NH

Gerrard et al 2010¹⁶

A teaching hospital in London, EN **Patients referred to the hospital palliative care team who died during the audit period. Deaths in 2007 and 2009** Audits on PPC documents 315 valid cases: 37%hospice; 33% home; 21%hospital; 9%NH

Gomes et al 2012¹⁹

All regions in EN

Random sample of households, members of the general public. Public surveyed from May to Dec 2010 Telephone survey, questions on end of life preferences and priorities 1316 valid cases; 64% home; 29% hospice, 3% hospital; 2% NH; 2% elsewhere

Grande et al 2008¹⁷

Three hospice at home (H_OH) services in Cambridge, EN **Patients (and carers) referred to the H_OH services who died within the study period (four months, date not stated)** Analysis of anonymous patient records 255 valid cases: 79%home; 15% hospice, remaining not specified

Higginson 2003⁸¹

All regions in EN, SCT and WAL Random sample of households, members of the general

public. Public surveyed in Apr 2002 Telephone survey; questions on end of life preferences and

priorities 950 valid cases: 59%home; 25% hospice; 12% hospital; 4% NH

Higginson et al 2010¹⁶⁸

One hospital in London, EN

Relatives of patients who died of cancer purposively selected for a pilot study. Data collected from Apr to Aug 2009 Survey with bereaved relatives using the QUALYCARE questionnaire

18 valid cases: 39% home; 28% hospice; remaining not specified

Holdsworth et al 2010⁹⁶

Three hospice units with an inpatient ward of 16 beds, a community outreach service and day hospice. South East EN

Patients visited for the first time by a staff member employed by the hospice group. Deaths between 1 Jul and 31 Dec 2009

Search of the hospice electronic and paper records 124 valid cases: 65% home; 23% hospice; 3% CH, 2% hospital; 7% other

Ingleton et al 2004¹⁶⁹

Rural county of Powys, WAL

Bereaved carers of patients who died of cancer between Apr 1999 and Jun 2001

Survey with bereaved relatives using the VOICES guestionnaire

. 132 valid cases: 78% home; 12% community/general hospital; 2% NH; 2% hospice, 6% other

Karlsen et al 1998⁹¹

Camden and Islington Health Authority, EN

Cancer deaths registered by residents in the districts from Jul 1995 to Jun 1996

Survey with bereaved relatives using the VOICES questionnaire 80 valid cases: 74% home; 16% hospice; 5% hospital; 3% CH; 3% other

Koffman et al 2004¹⁷⁰

Three inner-London boroughs, EN

Relatives of patients who died of advanced disease identified via Health Authority death registrations (native-born White and Black Caribbean). Data collected from 1999 to 2000

Survey with a semi-structured questionnaire administered via interview

20 valid cases (Black Caribbean):85% home; 10% Jamaica; 5% hospice - 12 valid cases (White): 75% home; 8% CH; 17% hospice

Lindsay et al 2010¹⁷¹

Area covered by the Macmillan Community Team (MCT) of South Downs Health NHS Trust, EN

Patients referred to the MCT who had died during the study. Data collected from Apr to Sep 2009

Survey with data collection form filled in after death of patient 231 valid cases: 53% home; 33% hospice; 3% hospital; 11% NH

McKeown et al 2008¹⁷²

Large teaching hospital in the north-west of EN Patients with end-stage renal failure referred to specialist palliative care team. Referrals from Mar 2004 to Apr 2006

Audit of a database used to record referrals information 14 valid cases: 50% home; 29% hospice; 14% hospital; 1% NH

Newton et al 2009¹⁸

Hospices, hospital specialist beds, hospice at home, hospital/ community palliative care teams urban/ suburban area in the South Essex Cancer Network, EN

Patients referred to palliative care services in the area who had a completed PPC document. Data collected from Oct 2005 to Sep 2007

Analysis of PPC document

211 valid cases (missing data unknown): 64% home; 7% hospital; 25% hospice; 4% CH

Pearse et al 2005¹⁷³

Hospital with a palliative care team, Leeds, EN **Patients referred to the team with prognosis of >1 month/ died unexpectedly. Time period not stated** Patient survey on preferred place 61 valid cases: 53% home; 30% hospice; 28% hospital

Spiller et al 1993¹⁷⁴

Regional Palliative Care Unit in Aberdeen, SCT Consecutive cancer patients admitted to the unit; not resident for > than four days. Year of data collected not stated

Patient survey using a questionnaire 18 valid cases: 56% home; 17% palliative care unit; 1% hospital; 22% other

Thomas et al 200478

Specialist palliative care services in the Morecambe Bay area in North West EN

Terminally ill cancer patients living in the area referred to the research team by specialist palliative care professionals Observational study from 2000 to 2002. Cancer deaths from 1993 to 2000

Study involved qualitative interviews with patients and spatial statistical analysis of deaths

30 valid cases: 33% home; 27% hospice; 9% home or hospice; 0% hospital, 10% other

Tiernan et al 2002¹⁶⁷

Hospice Home care team in Dublin, Ireland **Patients referred to the hospice home care team followed up until death. Deaths in a 5 month period, year not stated** Analysis of records of preferred place of death 148 valid cases: 82% home; 12% hospice; 3% hospital; 3% NH

Townsend 199098

Northwick Park Hospital and local community nursing services in London, EN

Patients with cancer from hospital and the community; expected to die within a year. Patients referred from Aug 1986 to Sep 1987

Patient survey with a structured questionnaire 58 valid cases (final realistic preferences): 50% home; 24% hospital; 26% hospice

Walker et al 2011¹⁷⁵

A hospice in the Midlands, EN Sample of adults with cancer and other diseases who had died in Jan 2008, 2009 and 2010 Audit of case notes using a data capture form. 28 valid cases: 79% home; 21% hospice

Wood et al 2007¹⁷⁶

Two NHS primary care trusts in North West EN First 100 cases of deceased patients living within the trusts who had a PPC document. Analysis from Feb 2003 to Feb 2005 Assessment of PPC document

100 valid cases: 73% home; 12% home or hospice; 9% hospice, 6% others

List of abbreviations: PPC – preferred priorities for care, CH – care home, NH – nursing home, EN – England, WAL – Wales, SCT – Scotland, NI – Northern Ireland, H_@H – hospice at home, MCT – Macmillan Community Team

Appendix C- Deaths by age, gender, cause of death and place of death in England and Wales (2007-2011)

		2007	2008	2009	2010	2011
		n (%)				
	Age					
	All ages	98,271 (19.5)	101,090 (19.9)	99,592 (20.3)	102,416 (20.8)	105,354 (21.8)
	Up to 4 years	256 (6.5)	232 (5.9)	215 (5.7)	201 (5.5)	206 (5.6)
	5-14	160 (22.2)	163 (25.2)	144 (22.5)	129 (20.8)	133 (24.3)
	15-44	4,991 (28.7)	5,290 (30.0)	5,313 (31.0)	5,066 (31.3)	4,976 (32.4)
N	45-64	20,020 (30.5)	20,540 (31.2)	20,175 (31.4)	20,455 (31.9)	20,603 (32.9)
ath	65-74	20,994 (25.7)	21,606 (26.4)	21,488 (27.0)	21,967 (27.6)	22,669 (28.8)
de	75-84	30,896 (19.3)	30,915 (19.6)	29,923 (20.0)	30,893 (20.9)	31,315 (21.8)
me	85 and over	20,954 (12.0)	22,344 (12.3)	22,334 (12.7)	23,705 (13.1)	25,452 (14.1)
- P	Gender					
	Male	54,871 (22.8)	56,534 (23.3)	56,148 (23.6)	57,654 (24.2)	58,942 (25.1)
	Female	43,400 (16.5)	44,556 (16.7)	43,444 (17.2)	44,762 (17.5)	46,412 (18.6)
	Cause of death					
	Cancer	34,669 (24.7)	36,383 (25.8)	37,345 (26.6)	38,558 (27.3)	41,040 (28.7)
	Non-cancer	63,602 (17.5)	64,707 (17.6)	62,247 (17.7)	63,858 (18.2)	64,314 (18.9)
	Age					
	All ages	25,353 (5.0)	24,878 (4.9)	24,998 (5.1)	25,615 (5.2)	26,361 (5.4)
	Up to 4 years	71 (1.8)	62 (1.6)	57 (1.5)	65 (1.8)	67 (1.8)
	5-14	30 (4.2)	37 (5.7)	39 (6.1)	61 (9.9)	36 (6.6)
	15-44	1,049 (6.0)	1,020 (5.8)	936 (5.5)	969 (6.0)	974 (6.3)
st	45-64	6,800 (10.4)	6,626 (10.1)	6,765 (10.5)	6,876 (10.7)	6,935 (11.1)
eat	65-74	7,024 (8.6)	6,893 (8.4)	6,922 (8.7)	7,141 (9.0)	7,388 (9.4)
Ğ	75-84	7,612 (4.8)	7,431 (4.7)	7,385 (4.9)	7,455 (5.0)	7,670 (5.3)
bic	85 and over	2,767 (1.6)	2,809 (1.5)	2,894 (1.6)	3,048 (1.7)	3,291 (1.8)
osl	Gender					
Ŧ	Male	12,767 (5.3)	12,543 (5.2)	12,680 (5.3)	13,076 (5.5)	13,443 (5.7)
	Female	12,586 (4.8)	12,335 (4.6)	12,318 (4.9)	12,539 (4.9)	12,918 (5.2)
	Cause of death					
	Cancer	23,690 (16.9)	23,111 (16.4)	23,189 (16.5)	23,610 (16.7)	24,185 (16.9)
	Non-cancer	1,663 (0.5)	1,767 (0.5)	1,809 (0.5)	2,005 (0.6)	2,176 (0.6)
	Age					
	All ages	331,693 (65.8)	332,425 (65.3)	317,055 (64.5)	N/A	N/A
	Up to 4 years	3,544 (90.4)	3,602 (91.8)	3,489 (91.9)	N/A	N/A
ths	5-14	484 (67.1)	404 (62.4)	420 (65.7)	N/A	N/A
ea	15-44	8,186 (47.1)	8,122 (46.1)	7,942 (46.3)	N/A	N/A
ē	45-64	35,667 (54.3)	35,405 (53.8)	34,216 (53.2)	N/A	N/A
Eo	65-74	50,486 (61.8)	49,994 (61.2)	47,892 (60.2)	N/A	N/A
care h	75-84	110,291 (68.9)	107,887 (68.4)	101,405 (67.6)	N/A	N/A
	85 and over	123,035 (70.4)	127,011 (69.9)	121,691 (69.1)	N/A	N/A
pu	Gender					
ala	Male	155,360 (64.5)	155,490 (64.0)	150,836 (63.4)	N/A	N/A
pita	Female	176,333 (67.0)	176,935 (66.5)	166,219 (65.6)	N/A	N/A
lso	Cause of death					
Ŧ	Cancer	74,540 (53.2)	74,006 (52.4)	71,878 (51.2)	N/A	N/A
	Non-cancer	257,153 (70.7)	258,419 (70.2)	245,177 (69.9)	N/A	N/A

N/A: Not available. Percentages in each age group refer to proportion of deaths within that age group occurring in each setting. For example, in 2007 only 12.0% of deaths from those over 85 years old occurred at home.

Source: Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2007/2008/2009/2010/2011)

	Hospital deaths		Care home deaths		
	2010	2011	2010	2011	
	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
Age					
All ages	264,962 (53.7)	249,387 (51.5)	89,320 (18.1)	92,386 (19.1)	
Up to 4 years	3,337 (91.7)	3,369 (91.9)	8 (0.2)	2 (0.1)	
5-14	390 (63.0)	351 (64.2)	2 (0.3)	3 (0.5)	
15-44	7,337 (45.3)	6,740 (43.9)	137 (0.8)	108 (0.7)	
45-64	31,994 (49.9)	30,371 (48.4)	1,926 (3.0)	1,892 (3.0)	
65-74	43,445 (54.6)	41,386 (52.7)	5,482 (6.9)	5,536 (7.0)	
75-84	84,432 (57.0)	78,746 (54.9)	23,352 (15.8)	23,720 (16.5)	
85 and over	94,027 (51.9)	88,424 (49.1)	58,413 (32.3)	61,125 (33.9)	
Gender					
Male	131,473 (55.3)	124,861 (53.2)	28,779 (12.1)	30,421 (13.0)	
Female	133,489 (52.3)	125,526 (49.9)	60,541 (23.7)	61,965 (24.8)	
Cause of death					
Cancer	59,954 (42.4)	57,688 (40.3)	17,216 (12.2)	17,980 (12.6)	
Non-cancer	205,008 (58.3)	191,699 (56.2)	72,104 (20.5)	74,406 (21.8)	

Appendix D – Factors independently associated with choosing hospice/palliative care unit as the preferred place to die

	p-values	OR (95% CI)
Variables	n (%)	n (%)
Socio-demographics		
Age	<0.001	
85+		reference
75-84		0.81 (0.28-2.36)
65-74		0.78 (0.28-2.21)
55-64		0.65 (0.22-1.88)
45-54		1.11 (0.36-3.36)
35-44		0.47 (0.15-1.48)
25-34		0.31 (0.09-1.05)
16-24		0.13 (0.03-0.57)
Priorities for end of life care		
Dying in the preferred place	<0.001	
most important priority		reference
not most important priority		1.95 (1.40-2.72)

Only significant variables are shown. Marital status, living arrangements, religion, retirement, experiences of illness, death and dying and priorities for information were all included in the logistic regression model, but were found not to be significant.



- 1 Department of Health. End of Life Care Strategy Promoting high quality care of all adults at the end of life. Department of Health, 2008.
- 2 Help the Hospices. Help the Hospices and the UK Hospice Movement - Funding and hospice care - key issues. Help the Hospices, 2008.
- 3 Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c.7). Parliament of the United Kingdom 2012.
- 4 Ellis J. UK health reforms: the hospice view. Int J Palliat Nurs. 1958; 17: 56.
- 5 Hughes-Hallett T, Craft A, Davies C, et al. Pallaitive care funding review. Funding the right care and support for everyone. Creating a Fair and Transparent Funding System; the Final Report of the Palliative Care Funding Review. 2011.
- 6 Harrop A. Care in crisis: causes and solutions. Age UK, 2011.
- 7 Ham C. Looking back and looking ahead. In: Ham C, (ed.). Health Policy in Britain. Basingstoke, Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan, 2009, p. 283-314.
- 8 Tebbit P. Population-based Needs Assessment for Palliative and End of Life Care. A Compendium of Data for Strategic Health Authorities and Primary Care Trusts. National Council for Palliative Care, 2008.
- 9 Help the Hospices. Hospice and Palliative Care Directory. United Kingdom and Ireland 2012-2013. Help the Hospices, 2012.
- 10 Hain R, Heckford E and McCulloch R. Paediatric palliative medicine in the UK: past, present, future. Arch Dis Child. 2012; 97: 381-4.
- Office for National Statistics. National Population Projections 2010-based Statistical Bulletin. Office for National Statistics, 2011.
- 12 Office for National Statistics. Chapter 3: Fertility. Office for National Statistics, 2012.
- 13 Higginson IJ and Sen-Gupta GJ. Place of care in advanced cancer: a qualitative systematic literature review of patient preferences. J Palliat Med. 2000; 3: 287-300.
- 14 Agar M, Currow DC, Shelby-James TM, et al. Preference for place of care and place of death in palliative care: are these different questions? Palliat Med. 2008; 22: 787-95.
- 15 Alonso-Babarro A, Bruera E, Varela-Cerdeira M, et al. Can this patient be discharged home? Factors associated with at-home death among patients with cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2011; 29: 1159-67.
- 16 Gerrard R, Campbell J, Minton O, et al. Achieving the preferred place of care for hospitalized patients at the end of life. Palliat Med. 2011; 25: 333-6.
- 17 Grande G and Ewing G. Death at home unlikely if informal carers prefer otherwise: implications for policy. Palliat Med. 2008; 22: 971-2.
- 18 Newton J, Clark R and Ahlquist P. Evaluation of the introduction of an advanced care plan into multiple palliative care settings. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2009; 15: 554-61.
- 19 Gomes B, Higginson IJ, Calanzani N, et al. Preferences for place of death if faced with advanced cancer: a population survey in England, Flanders, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal and Spain. Ann Oncol. 2012; 23: 2006-15.
- 20 United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Seven billion and growing: the role of population policy in achieving sustainability. Population Division Technical Paper No. 2011/3. New York: UN DESA, 2011.
- 21 Office for National Statistics. Chapter 4: Mortality. Office for National Statistics, 2012.
- 22 Griffiths C and Brock A. Twentieth Century Mortality Trends in England and Wales. Office for National Statistics, 2003.
- 23 Gomes B, Cohen J, Deliens L, et al. International trends in circumstances of death and dying. In: Gott M and Ingleton C, (eds.). Living with Ageing and Dying Palliative and end of life care for older people. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011, p. 3-18.

- 24 World Health Organization. World Health Statistics 2012. World Health Organization, 2012.
- 25 Cancer Research UK. CancerStats Incidence 2009 UK. Cancer Research UK, 2012.
- 26 Harris S, Ho D and Verne J. Deaths from Alzheimer's disease, dementia and senility in England. National End of Life Care Intelligence Network, 2010.
- 27 Stephan B and Brayne C. Prevalence and projections of dementia. In: Downs M and Bowers B, (eds.). Excellence in Dementia Care: Research into Practice. Maidenhead: Open University Press, 2008, p. 9-34.
- 28 Knapp M, Comas-Herrera A, Somani A, et al. Dementia: international comparisons. Summary report for the National Audit Office. 2007.
- 29 Knapp M and Prince M. Dementia UK. Summary of Key Findings. London: Personal Social Services Research Unit (PSSRU) at the London School of Economics and the Institute of Psychiatry at King's College London, 2007.
- **30** Luengo-Fernandez R, Leal J and Gray A. Dementia 2010: The economic burden of dementia and associated research funding in the United Kingdom. Alzheimer's Research Trust, 2010.
- 31 Yancik R, Ganz PA, Varricchio CG, et al. Perspectives on comorbidity and cancer in older patients: approaches to expand the knowledge base. J Clin Oncol. 2001; 19: 1147-51.
- 32 World Health Organization. Palliative Care for Older People: Better Practices. In: Hall S, Petkova H, Tsouros AD, Costantini M and Higginson IJ, (eds.). World Health Organization, 2011.
- 33 Teno JM, Weitzen S, Fennell ML, et al. Dying trajectory in the last year of life: does cancer trajectory fit other diseases? J Palliat Med. 2001; 4: 457-64.
- 34 Murray SA, Kendall M, Boyd K, et al. Illness trajectories and palliative care. BMJ. 2005; 330: 1007-11.
- 35 Solano JP, Gomes B and Higginson IJ. A comparison of symptom prevalence in far advanced cancer, AIDS, heart disease, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and renal disease. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2006; 31: 58-69.
- 36 Sigurdardottir KR and Haugen DF. Prevalence of distressing symptoms in hospitalised patients on medical wards: A crosssectional study. BMC Palliat Care. 2008; 7: 16.
- 37 Edmonds P, Hart S, Wei G, et al. Palliative care for people severely affected by multiple sclerosis: evaluation of a novel palliative care service. Mult Scler. 2010; 16: 627-36.
- 38 Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2006. Office for National Statistics, 2007.
- **39** Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2007. Office for National Statistics, 2008.
- 40 Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2008. Office for National Statistics, 2009.
- 41 Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2009. Office for National Statistics, 2010.
- 42 Office for National Statistics. Deaths registered in England and Wales in 2010, by cause. Office for National Statistics, 2011.
- 43 General Register Office for Scotland. Vital Events Reference Tables 2007. General Register Office for Scotland, 2008.
- General Register Office for Scotland. Vital Events Reference Tables
 2008. General Register Office for Scotland, 2009.
- 45 General Register Office for Scotland. Vital Events Reference Tables 2009. General Register Office for Scotland, 2010.
- 46 General Register Office for Scotland. Vital Events Reference Tables 2010. General Register Office for Scotland, 2011.
- 47 General Register Office for Scotland. Vital Events Reference Tables 2011. General Register Office for Scotland, 2012.
- 48 The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency. Registrar General Northern Ireland. Annual Report 2007. The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency, 2008.

- 49 The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency. Registrar General Northern Ireland. Annual Report 2008. The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency, 2009.
- 50 The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency. Registrar General Northern Ireland. Annual Report 2009. The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency, 2010.
- 51 The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency. Registrar General Northern Ireland. Annual Report 2010. The Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency, 2011.
- 52 The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency. Registrar General Northern Ireland. Annual Report 2011. The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency, 2012.
- 53 Office for National Statistics. Mortality statistics: Deaths registered in 2011. Office for National Statistics, 2012.
- 54 Alzheimer's Society. Statistics. Alzheimer's Society, 2012.
- 55 Wancata J, Musalek M, Alexandrowicz R, et al. Number of dementia sufferers in Europe between the years 2000 and 2050. Eur Psychiatry. 2003; 18: 306-13.
- 56 Department of Health. End of Life Care Strategy: Fourth Annual Report. Department of Health, 2012.
- 57 Gomes B, Calanzani N and Higginson IJ. Reversal of the British trends in place of death: time series analysis 2004-2010. Palliat Med. 2012; 26: 102-7.
- 58 International Labour Office. Ageing societies: The benefits, and the costs, of living longer. Geneva: International Labour Office, 2009.
- 59 British Geriatrics Society. Failing the Frail: A Chaotic Approach to Commissioning Healthcare Services for Care Homes. British Geriatrics Society, 2012.
- 60 British Geriatrics Society. Quest for quality. British Geriatrics Society Joint Working Party Inquiry into the Quality of Healthcare Support for Older People in Care Homes: A Call for Leadership, Partnership and Quality Improvement. British Geriatrics Society, 2011.
- 61 St Christopher's Hospice. Gold Standards Framework in Care Homes (GSFCH). St Christopher's Hospice, 2012.
- 62 The Northern Ireland Statistics Research Agency. Table 5.11. Deaths by place of death, 2001 to 2010. The Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency, 2012.
- 63 Scottish Cancer Registry. Deaths from Cancer by Place of Death: Scotland, period 2004-2008. Scottish Cancer Registry, 2010.
- 64 Office for National Statistics. Information paper. Quality and Methodology Information. Office for National Statistics, 2012.
- 65 The National Council for Palliative Care. National Survey of Patient Activity Data for specialist palliative care services. MDS Full Report for the year 2010-2011. National End of Life Care Intelligence Network, 2012.
- 66 Office for National Statistics. Population Ageing in the United Kingdom its constituent countries and the European Union. Office for National Statistics, 2012.
- 67 Payne S. EAPC Task Force on Family Carers White Paper on improving support for family carers in palliative care: part 1. European Journal of Palliative Care. 2010; 17: 238-45.
- 68 Raleigh VS. Trends in world population: How will the millenium compare with the past? Hum Reprod Update. 1999; 5: 500-5.
- 69 Office for National Statistics. 2. Results: 2010-based national population projections. Office for National Statistics, 2012.
- **70** Shaw C. Fifty years of United Kingdom national population projections: how accurate have they been? : Office for National Statistics, 2007.
- Olsen AH, Parkin DM and Sasieni P. Cancer mortality in the United Kingdom: projections to the year 2025. Br J Cancer. 2008; 99: 1549-54.
- 72 Maddams J, Utley M and Moller H. Projections of cancer prevalence in the United Kingdom, 2010-2040. Br J Cancer. 2012; 107: 1195-202.

- 73 Richards M, Corner J and Maher J. The National Cancer Survivorship Initiative: new and emerging evidence on the ongoing needs of cancer survivors. Br J Cancer. 2011; 105 Suppl 1: S1-4.
- 74 Cancer Research UK. Press Release. Cancer deaths set to drop 17 per cent by 2030. Cancer Research UK, 2012.
- 75 Murtagh FEM, Bausewein C, Petkova H, et al. Understanding place of death for patients with non-malignant: a systematic literature review. Final report. 2012.
- 76 Bell CL, Somogyi-Zalud E and Masaki KH. Methodological review: measured and reported congruence between preferred and actual place of death. Palliat Med. 2009; 23: 482-90.
- 77 Gott M, Seymour J, Bellamy G, et al. Older people's views about home as a place of care at the end of life. Palliat Med. 2004; 18: 460-7.
- 78 Thomas C, Morris SM and Clark D. Place of death: preferences among cancer patients and their carers. Soc Sci Med. 2004; 58: 2431-44.
- 79 Fried TR, van DC, O'Leary JR, et al. Older persons' perceptions of home and hospital as sites of treatment for acute illness. Am J Med. 1999; 107: 317-23.
- 80 Carlander I, Ternestedt BM, Sahlberg-Blom E, et al. Four aspects of self-image close to death at home. Int J Qual Stud Health Wellbeing. 2011; 6: 2011.
- 81 Higginson IJ. Priorities and preferences for end of life care in England, Wales and Scotland. The Cicely Saunders Foundation, Scottish Partnership for Palliative Care and the National Council for Hospice and Specialist Palliative Care Services, 2003.
- 82 Grinyer A and Thomas C. The importance of place of death in young adults with terminal cancer. Mortality. 2004; 9: 114-31.
- 83 Evans WG, Cutson TM, Steinhauser KE, et al. Is there no place like home? Caregivers recall reasons for and experience upon transfer from home hospice to inpatient facilities. J Palliat Med. 2006; 9: 100-10.
- 84 Seymour J, Payne S, Chapman A, et al. Hospice or home? Expectations of end-of-life care among white and Chinese older people in the UK. Sociol Health Ill. 2007; 29: 872-90.
- Edmonds P and Rogers A. 'If only someone had told me...' A review of the care of patients dying in hospital. Clin Med. 2003; 3: 149-52.
- 86 Davie G and Vincent J. Progress Report. Religion and old age. Ageing Soc. 1998; 18: 101-10.
- 87 United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. World Population Ageing 2009. United Nations, 2010.
- 88 Steinhauser KE, Christakis NA, Clipp EC, et al. Factors considered important at the end of life by patients, family, physicians, and other care providers. JAMA. 2000; 284: 2476-82.
- 89 Heyland DK, Dodek P, Rocker G, et al. What matters most in endof-life care: perceptions of seriously ill patients and their family members. CMAJ. 2006; 174: 627-33.
- **90** Waghorn M, Young H and Davies A. Opinions of patients with cancer on the relative importance of place of death in the context of a 'good death'. BMJ Support Palliat Care. 2011.
- 91 Karlsen S and Addington-Hall J. How do cancer patients who die at home differ from those who die elsewhere? Palliat Med. 1998; 12: 279-86.
- 92 Ward AW. Terminal care in malignant disease. Soc Sci Med. 1974; 8: 413-20.
- 93 Hinton J. Can home care maintain an acceptable quality of life for patients with terminal cancer and their relatives? Palliat Med. 1994; 8: 183-96.
- 94 Grande GE, Todd CJ, Barclay SI, et al. Does hospital at home for palliative care facilitate death at home? Randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 1999; 319: 1472-5.
- 95 Gomes B, Calanzani N and Higginson IJ. Local Preferences and Place of Death in Regions within England 2010. Cicely Saunders International and End of Life Care Intelligence Network, 2011.

- 96 Holdsworth L and Fisher S. A retrospective analysis of preferred and actual place of death for hospice patients. Int J Palliat Nurs. 16: 424.
- 97 DH NHS Medical Directorate / End of Life Care. First national VOICES survey of bereaved people: key findings report. Department of Health, 2012.
- 98 Townsend J, Frank AO, Fermont D, et al. Terminal cancer care and patients' preference for place of death: a prospective study. BMJ. 1990; 301: 415-7.
- 99 Gomes B and Higginson IJ. Factors influencing death at home in terminally ill patients with cancer: systematic review. BMJ. 2006; 332: 515-21.
- 100 Addicott A and Ross S. Implementing the end of life care strategy. Lessons for good practice. The King's Fund, 2010.
- 101 Coordinate My Care: A clinical service that coordinates care, giving patients choice and improving quality of life. Coordinate my Care, 2012.
- **102** Detering K, Hancock A, Reade M, et al. The impact of advance care planning on end of life care in elderly patients: randomised controlled trial. BMJ. 2010; 340: c1345.
- 103 Higginson IJ, Finlay IG, Goodwin DM, et al. Is there evidence that palliative care teams alter end-of-life experiences of patients and their caregivers? J Pain Symptom Manage. 2003; 25: 150-68.
- 104 Rinck GC, van den Bos GA, Kleijnen J, et al. Methodologic issues in effectiveness research on palliative cancer care: a systematic review. J Clin Oncol. 1997; 15: 1697-707.
- 105 Ahmed N, Bestall JC, Ahmedzai SH, et al. Systematic review of the problems and issues of accessing specialist palliative care by patients, carers and health and social care professionals. Palliat Med. 2004; 18: 525-42.
- 106 Higginson IJ, Finlay I, Goodwin DM, et al. Do hospital-based palliative teams improve care for patients or families at the end of life? J Pain Symptom Manage. 2002; 23: 96-106.
- 107 Jack B, Hillier V, Williams A, et al. Improving cancer patients' pain: the impact of the hospital specialist palliative care team. Eur J Cancer Care (Engl). 2006; 15: 476-80.
- 108 Gardiner C, Gott M and Ingleton C. Factors supporting good partnership working between generalist and specialist palliative care services: a systematic review. Br J Gen Pract. 2012; 62: e353-e62.
- 109 Higginson IJ, Vivat B, Silber E, et al. Study protocol: delayed intervention randomised controlled trial within Medical Research Council (MRC) Framework to assess the effectiveness of a new palliative care service. BMC Palliat Care. 2006; 5.
- 110 Higginson IJ and Evans CJ. What is the evidence that palliative care teams improve outcomes for cancer patients and their families? Cancer J. 2010; 16: 423-35.
- 111 Hearn J and Higginson IJ. Do specialist palliative care teams improve outcomes for cancer patients? A systematic literature review. Palliat Med. 1998; 12: 317-32.
- 112 Finlay IG, Higginson IJ, Goodwin DM, et al. Palliative care in hospital, hospice, at home: results from a systematic review. Ann Oncol. 2002; 13: Suppl-64.
- **113** Francke AL. Evaluative research on palliative support teams: a literature review. Patient Educ Couns. 2000; 41: 83-91.
- Salisbury C, Bosanquet N, Wilkinson EK, et al. The impact of different models of specialist palliative care on patients' quality of life: a systematic literature review. Palliat Med. 1999; 13: 3-17.
- 115 Dy SM, Shugarman LR, Lorenz KA, et al. A systematic review of satisfaction with care at the end of life. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2008; 56: 124-9.
- 116 Candy B, Holman A, Leurent B, et al. Hospice care delivered at home, in nursing homes and in dedicated hospice facilities: A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative evidence. Int J Nurs Stud. 2011; 48: 121-33.

- 117 Smeenk FW, van Haastregt JC, de Witte LP, et al. Effectiveness of home care programmes for patients with incurable cancer on their quality of life and time spent in hospital: systematic review. BMJ. 1998; 316: 1939-44.
- 118 Shepperd S, Wee B and Straus SE. Hospital at home: homebased end of life care. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews(7):CD009231, 2011.
- Gomes B, Calanzani N, Curiale V, et al. Effectiveness and Costeffectiveness of Home Palliative Care Services: A Meta-analysis. Palliat Med. 2012; 26: 396.
- 120 El-Jawahri A, Greer JA and Temel JS. Does palliative care improve outcomes for patients with incurable illness? A review of the evidence. J Support Oncol. 2011; 9: 87-94.
- 121 Zimmermann C, Riechelmann R, Krzyzanowska M, et al. Effectiveness of specialized palliative care: a systematic review. JAMA. 2008; 299: 1698-709.
- 122 Harding R, Karus D, Easterbrook P, et al. Does palliative care improve outcomes for patients with HIV/AIDS? A systematic review of the evidence. Sex Transm Infect. 2005; 81: 5-14.
- 123 Stajduhar K, Funk L, Toye C, et al. Part 1: Home-based family caregiving at the end of life: a comprehensive review of published quantitative research (1998-2008). Palliat Med. 2010; 24: 573-93.
- 124 Harding R and Higginson IJ. What is the best way to help caregivers in cancer and palliative care? A systematic literature review of interventions and their effectiveness. Palliat Med. 2003; 17: 63-74.
- 125 Harding R, List S, Epiphaniou E, et al. How can informal caregivers in cancer and palliative care be supported? An updated systematic literature review of interventions and their effectiveness. Palliat Med. 2012; 26: 7-22.
- 126 National Institute for Clinical Excellence. Guidance on Cancer Services. Improving Supportive and Palliative Care for Adults with Cancer. The Manual. National Institute for Clinical Excellence, 2004.
- 127 Faculty of Health and Social Care.The Robert Gordon University. Literature Review on Bereavement and Bereavement Care. The Joanna Briggs Institute, 2006.
- 128 Field D, Reid D, Payne S, et al. Survey of UK hospice and specialist palliative care adult bereavement services. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2004; 10: 569-76.
- 129 Grande GE, Farquhar MC, Barclay SIG, et al. Caregiver bereavement outcome: relationship with hospice at home, satisfaction with care, and home death. J Palliat Care. 2004; 20: 69-77.
- **130** Reid D, Field D, Payne S, et al. Adult bereavement in five English hospices: types of support. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2006; 12: 430-7.
- 131 Buckner L and Yeandle S. Valuing Carers 2011. Calculating the value of carers' support. University of Leeds and Carers UK, 2011.
- 132 Grande G, Stajduhar K, Aoun S, et al. Supporting lay carers in end of life care: current gaps and future priorities. Palliat Med. 2009; 23: 339.
- 133 Leadbeater C and Garber J. Dying for Change. Demos, 2010.
- 134 Hughes SL, Ulasevich A, Weaver FM, et al. Impact of home care on hospital days: a meta analysis. Health Serv Res. 1997; 32: 415-32.
- 135 Higginson IJ, McCrone P, Hart SR, et al. Is short-term palliative care cost-effective in multiple sclerosis? A randomized phase II trial. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2009; 38: 816-26.
- **136** Brumley R, Enguidanos S, Jamison P, et al. Increased satisfaction with care and lower costs: results of a randomized trial of in-home palliative care. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2007; 55: 993-1000.
- **137** Tang ST. Influencing factors of place of death among home care patients with cancer in Taiwan. Cancer Nurs. 2002; 25: 158-66.
- 138 Pinzon LC, Claus M, Zepf KI, et al. Symptom Prevalence in the Last days of Life in Germany: The Role of Place of Death. Am J Hosp Palliat Med. 2012; 29: 431-7.
- **139** Addington-Hall J and Karlsen S. Do home deaths increase distress in bereavement? Palliat Med. 2000; 14: 161-2.

- 140 Wright AA, Keating NL, Balboni TA, et al. Place of death: correlations with quality of life of patients with cancer and predictors of bereaved caregivers' mental health. J Clin Oncol. 2010; 28: 4457-64.
- 141 Parkes CM. Home or hospital? Terminal care as seen by surviving spouses. J Roy Coll Gen Pract. 1978; 28: 19-30.
- 142 Wilkinson EK, Salisbury C, Bosanquet N, et al. Patient and carer preference for, and satisfaction with, specialist models of palliative care: a systematic literature review. Palliat Med. 1999; 13: 197-216.
- 143 Garcia-Perez L, Linertova R, Martin-Olivera R, et al. A systematic review of specialised palliative care for terminal patients: which model is better? Palliat Med. 2009; 23: 17-22.
- 144 Liegner LM. St Christopher's Hospice, 1974. Care of the dying patient. JAMA. 1975; 234: 1047-8.
- 145 St. Christopher's Hospice. Lancet. 1967; 2: 298.
- **146** Parkes CM. Terminal care: home, hospital, or hospice? Lancet. 1985; 1: 155-7.
- 147 Parkes CM. Terminal care: evaluation of in-patient service at St Christopher's Hospice. Part I. Views of surviving spouse on effects of the service on the patient. Postgrad Med J. 1979; 55: 517-22.
- 148 Parkes CM. Terminal care: evaluation of in-patient service at St Christopher's Hospice. Part II. Self assessments of effects of the service on surviving spouses. Postgrad Med J. 1979; 55: 523-7.
- 149 Gomes B, McCrone P, Hall S, et al. Variations in the quality and costs of end-of-life care, preferences and palliative outcomes for cancer patients by place of death: the QUALYCARE study. BMC Cancer. 2010; 10: 400.
- 150 Parkes CM and Parkes J. 'Hospice' versus 'hospital' care--reevaluation after 10 years as seen by surviving spouses. Postgrad Med J. 1984; 60: 120-4.
- 151 Seale C and Kelly M. A comparison of hospice and hospital care for the spouses of people who die. Palliat Med. 1997; 11: 101-6.
- 152 Addington-Hall JM and O'Callaghan AC. A comparison of the quality of care provided to cancer patients in the UK in the last three months of life in in-patient hospices compared with hospitals, from the perspective of bereaved relatives: results from a survey using the VOICES questionnaire. Palliat Med. 2009; 23: 190-7.
- 153 Grande G. Palliative care in hospice and hospital: time to put the spotlight on neglected areas of research. Palliat Med. 2009; 23: 187-9.
- 154 The Marmot Review. Fair Society, Healthy Lives. The Marmot Review. The Marmot Review, 2010.
- 155 Higginson IJ, Jarman B, Astin P, et al. Do social factors affect where patients die: an analysis of 10 years of cancer deaths in England. J Public Health Med. 1999; 21: 22-8.
- 156 Higginson IJ. The Palliative Care for Londoners; Needs, Experience, Outcomes and Future Strategy. London Regional Strategy Group for Palliative Care, 2000.
- 157 Douglas C, Murtagh FE, Chambers EJ, et al. Symptom management for the adult patient dying with advanced chronic kidney disease: a review of the literature and development of evidence-based guidelines by a United Kingdom Expert Consensus Group. Palliat Med. 2009; 23: 103-10.
- **158** All Party Parliamentary Group on Motor Neurone Disease. Inquiry into Access to Specialist Palliative Care for People with Motor Neurone Disease in England. Final Report. Motor Neurone Disease Association, 2011.
- 159 Evans N, Meñaca A, Andrew EV, et al. Systematic review of the primary research on minority ethnic groups and end-of-life care from the United Kingdom. J Pain Symptom Manage. 2012; 43: 261-86.
- 160 Addington-Hall J, West P, Karlsen S, et al. Care in the last year of life in Lambeth, Southwark and Lewisham. Final report. London: King's College London, 1999.

- 161 Bowers B, Roderick S and Arnold S. Improving integrated team working to support people to die in the place of their choice. Nurs Times. 2010; 106: 14-6.
- 162 Brettle RP, Morris S and Epton V. Patients with HIV dying in Edinbrugh: an audit of preference and place of death. Int J STD AIDS. 1995; 6: 221-2.
- 163 Charlton RC. Attitudes towards care of the dying: a questionnaire survey of general practice attenders. Fam Pract. 1991; 8: 356-9.
- 164 Cox K, Moghaddam N, Almack K, et al. Is it recorded in the notes? Documentation of end-of-life care and preferred place to die discussions in the final weeks of life. BMC Palliat Care. 2011; 10: 18.
- 165 Daley A and Sinclair K. Recording and auditing preferred place of death. Palliat Med. 2006; 20: 637-8.
- 166 Dunlop RJ, Davies RJ and Hockley JM. Preferred versus actual place of death: a hospital palliative care support team experience. Palliat Med. 1989; 3: 197-201.
- 167 Tiernan E, O'Connor M, O'Siorain L, et al. A prospective study of preferred versus actual place of death among patients referred to a palliative care home-care service. Ir Med J. 2002; 95: 232-5.
- 168 Higginson IJ, Hall S, Koffman J, et al. Time to get it right: are preferences for place of death more stable than we think? Palliat Med. 2010; 24: 352-3.
- **169** Ingleton C, Morgan J, Hughes P, et al. Carer satisfaction with endof-life care in Powys, Wales: a cross-sectional survey. Health Soc Care Community. 2004; 12: 43-52.
- 170 Koffman J and Higginson IJ. Dying to be home? Preferred location of death of first-generation black Caribbean and native-born white patients in the United Kingdom. J Palliat Med. 2004; 7: 628-36.
- 171 Lindsay F. Development of a quality framework to record the preferred place of care of patients. Palliat Med. 2012; 24: 246.
- 172 McKeown A, Agar R, Gambles M, et al. Renal failure and specialist palliative care: an assessment of current referral practice. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2008; 14: 454-8.
- 173 Pearse H, Saxby C, Hicks F, et al. Patient choice regarding place of death. Palliat Med. 2005; 19: 171-2.
- 174 Spiller JA and Alexander DA. Domiciliary care: a comparison of the views of terminally ill patients and their family caregivers. Palliat Med. 1993; 7: 109-15.
- 175 Walker S, Read S and Priest H. Identifying, documenting, and reviewing preferred place of death: an audit of one UK hospice. Int J Palliat Nurs. 2011; 17: 546-51.
- 176 Wood J, Storey L and Clark D. Preferred place of care: an analysis of the 'first 100' patient assessments. Palliat Med. 2007; 21: 449-50.

This evidence-based report has been written by Natalia Calanzani, Barbara Gomes and Irene J Higginson. Natalia Calanzani and Dr. Barbara Gomes are researchers of Cicely Saunders International, working at the Cicely Saunders Institute, King's College London. Professor Irene J Higginson is Scientific Director of Cicely Saunders International, Director of the Cicely Saunders Institute, Professor of Palliative Care & Policy at King's College London and Senior NIHR Investigator. Comments about the report should be addressed to Barbara Gomes at Cicely Saunders Institute, Bessemer Road, London SE5 9PJ (barbara.gomes@kcl.ac.uk) and copied to the Commission into the Future of Hospice Care (commission@helpthehospices.org.uk)

Acknowledgements

We are most grateful to all the participants in the PRISMA survey. We thank Cicely Saunders International, Help the Hospices and the Commission into the Future of Hospice Care for making this report possible, and the European Commission for funding the PRISMA survey. The report reflects only the authors' views. Cicely Saunders International, Help the Hospices, the Commission into the Future of Hospice Care and the European Commission are not liable for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

We are extremely grateful to David Praill, Steve Dewar, Heather Richardson and Laura Hamblin for their constant support and insightful feedback to earlier drafts. We also thank Professor Jane Seymour and Sarah Whitfield for their very pertinent comments. Special thanks to Jonathan Koffman, Fliss Murtagh and all other Commission members who read and discussed earlier versions of this report. We are also grateful to Charlotte Cambrooke for her administrative help. Many thanks to all who proofread the report (Steve Dewar, Fliss Cheek and Anna Gillespie) and to Alex Dionysiou for his design work.

PRISMA was funded by the European Commission's Seventh Framework Programme (contract number: Health-F2-2008-201655) with the overall aim to coordinate high-quality international research into end-oflife cancer care. PRISMA aimed to provide evidence and guidance on best practice to ensure that research can measure and improve outcomes for patients and families. PRISMA activities aimed to reflect the preferences and cultural diversities of citizens, the clinical priorities of clinicians, and appropriately measure multidimensional outcomes across settings where end of life care is delivered. Principal Investigator: Richard Harding. Scientific Director: Irene J Higginson. We thank all our colleagues from PRISMA: Gwenda Albers, Barbara Antunes, Ana Barros Pinto, Claudia Bausewein, Dorothee Bechinger-English, Hamid Benalia, Emma Bennett, Lucy Bradley, Lucas Ceulemans, Barbara A Daveson, Luc Deliens, Noël Derycke, Martine de Vlieger, Let Dillen, Julia Downing, Michael Echteld, Susie Edwards, Natalie Evans, Dagny Faksvåg Haugen, Nancy Gikaara, Marjolein Gysels, Sue Hall, Richard Harding, Stein Kaasa, Jonathan Koffman, Pedro Lopes Ferreira, Arantza Menaca, Johan Menten, Fliss Murtagh, Bregje Onwuteaka-Philipsen, Roeline Pasman, Francesca Pettenati, Robert Pool, Richard A. Powell, Miel Ribbe, Katrin Sigurdardottir, Steffen Simon, Franco Toscani, Bart Van den Eynden, Paul Vanden Berghe, Trudie van Iersel. We also thank BMG Research and Zentrum für Evaluation und Methoden (ZEM) for assistance in survey administration and data collection for the 2010 survey; Joachim Cohen for his advice and support; Gao Wei, Joana Cadima and Vicky Simms for statistical advice. We thank Emma Farrar and Brian Parry from the Projections team at the ONS for providing projections data not available from their website. The invaluable work of Ron Irwin, Sian Best and Mike Gover at King's College London and Brenda Ferns at Cicely Saunders International is also highly appreciated.

Help the Hospices is very grateful to The National Garden Scheme for supporting the Commission and its publications. The NGS opens gardens of quality, character and interest to the public since 1927, in order to raise funds for nursing and care charities, and is also the publisher of 'The Yellow Book' an annual best seller listing gardens that open for the scheme. The NGS is a registered charity (1112664).









Help the hospices is the charity for hospice care representing local hospices across the UK and supporting the development of hospice and palliative care worldwide.

Help the Hospices. Company limited by guarantee. Registered in England and Wales No 2751549. Registered Charity in England and Wales No 1014851 and Scotland No SCO41112. VAT No 731 304476.